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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH
ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE?”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the
Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware
of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other
characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited
to professional and other sophisticated investors. Given
the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a
risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible
to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that
there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the
Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents
of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy
or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance
upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors” or individually
a “Director”) of Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited (the
“Company’) collectively and individually accept full responsibility,
includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
(the “GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all
reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge
and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive,
and there are no other matters the omission of which would make
any statement herein or this report misleading.

This report will remain on the “Latest Company Announcements”
page of the GEM website at www.hkgem.com for at least seven
days from the date of its publication and on the website of the
Company at http.//www.aplushk.com/clients/8299GrandTG/.

The English text of this report shall prevail over the Chinese text
in case of inconsistencies.
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Note: Information in this section is as at the date of this report.
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Chairman’s Statement
FTREIRS

The board of Directors (the “Board”) of Grand T G Gold
Holdings Limited (the “Company”), together with its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”), hereby presents the Company’s

annual report for the year ended 31 March 2015.

In view of the conditional approval for resumption of trading
granted by the Listing Appeals Committee as detailed in the
subsection headed “Post balance sheet events® in the section
headed “Report of the Directors”, the New Board (as defined
in the subsection headed “Material Change in the Management
Team of the Company” in the section headed “Corporate
Governance Report”) is intensifying its effort to implement the
Resumption Proposal (as defined in the section headed “Report
of the Directors”), which include an open offer (the “Open Offer”),
debt capitalisation, debt settlement and release of all outstanding
financial results, so as to fulfill the Conditions (as defined in the
section headed “Report of the Directors”) as soon as possible for

resumption in trading of the shares of the Company (“Share(s)”).

As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 21
July 2016 and 7 December 2016, the Company will conduct the
Open Offer on the basis of 1 offer Share for each two existing
Shares held at a price of not more than HK$0.02 for each offer
Share in order to raise gross proceeds of approximately HK$100
million to HK$130 million. The Company will utilise the net
proceeds of the Open Offer for settlement of its indebtedness
and as working capital of the Group. Meanwhile, certain debts
will be capitalised and settled by way of issue of new Shares
and/or convertible bonds at not more than HK$0.02 per new
Share. The Company expects that upon completion of the
Resumption Proposal, the financial position, net assets value and

cash flow of the Group will be significantly improved.

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited 6
Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2015
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APPRECIATION

We would like to take this opportunity to express the New
Board’s sincere gratitude to all shareholders, investors, bankers,
business associates and customers for their continuous support
to the Group, and to all staff members for their hard work and

contributions during the past year.
On behalf of the Board
Li Dahong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 February 2017
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEREmX DR

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in gold exploration, mining

and mineral processing with gold concentrate as its product.

For the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group’s revenue was
approximately HK$105.8 million (2014: Nil) with gross profit
margin of approximately 57%. The Group recommenced the sale
of its products in the year under review. The Group was cautious
in controlling its cost of production and overheads. Respective
state of affairs of the Group is set out in the consolidated financial

statements on pages 46 to 135 of this report.

Consolidated profit of the Company amounted to approximately
HK$24.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2015 (2014: loss
of approximately HK$41.1 million). Basic earnings per share
was approximately HK cents 0.11 for the year ended 31 March
2015 (2014: loss of HK cents 0.24). The aforesaid changes were
because the Group recommenced the sale of its products in the
year under review. There will be no payment of dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2015 (2014: Nil).

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited 8
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
FUNDING

As at 31 March 2015, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
and net current assets amounted to approximately HK$0.4
million and approximately HK$19.4 million (2014: HK$0.4
million and HK$41.8 million) respectively whereas inventories
of the Group amounted to approximately HK$125.1 million
representing a decrease of approximately HK$11.6 million as
compared to the previous year. The Group generally financed its
operating activities with internally generated cash flow as well as
borrowings as detailed in note 21 to the consolidated financial

statements.

As at 31 March 2015, the current ratio is 1.11 (2014: 1.25).

As at 31 March 2015, the Group’s gearing ratio was
approximately 72% (31 March 2014: 75%), calculated based on

total borrowings over total assets.

CHARGE ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 March 2015, the Group’s bank borrowings were
secured by the mining right owned by the Group whereas its
long term loans were secured by the inventories of the Group’s
operating subsidiary, & 5% X MNE X B R &2 7 Tongguan
Taizhou Mining Company Limited* (“Taizhou Mining”).

EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RISKS
Since the Group’s borrowings and its source of income are
primarily denominated in Hong Kong dollars or Renminbi, the

exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations is minimal.

*

For identification purpose only
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEmX D

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

The Group did not have any significant investment, material

acquisition and disposal throughout the year.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION

POLICIES

As at 31 March 2015, the Group had 71 employees (2014:
74) situated mainly in the PRC and Hong Kong. The Group’s
emoluments policies are formulated based on industry practices
and performance of individual employees. For the year ended
31 March 2015, the total staff costs (including directors’
emoluments) amounted to approximately HK$9.5 million
(2014: HK$10.1 million). During the year ended 31 March
2015, no share option had been granted by the Company.
Details of employees’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to the

consolidated financial statements.

MINERAL EXPLORATION, MINE
DEVELOPMENT AND ORE MINING
ACTIVITIES

Mineral Exploration and Mine Development

During the year under review, Taizhou Mining mainly completed
certain mining development projects, including the excavation
of approximately 9,862 meters of various tunnels, excavation
of approximately 789 meters of slope supporting, excavation of
approximately 1,183 meters of ore chute as well as excavation of

approximately 2,959 meters for track laying and ditches.

During the year under review, the Group’s total expenditure for
the mine development and mineral exploration amounted to

approximately HK$40.7 million.

Ore Mining
During the year under review, the aggregate expenditure on the
ore mining operation of the Group was approximately HK$8.0

million.

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited 10
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Management Discussion and Analysis

RESOURCES AND RESERVES

Based on the findings of the report prepared by SRK Consulting
China Limited (Note) based on JORC Code 2012:

1. As of 31 March 2015, using a gold cut-off grade of 1.0 g/t,

the indicated resource and inferred resource of the Group

EEEmX DI

BERRF#E
R # SRK Consulting China Limited (#/:#) &
FBIORCERI (ZE—ZFR)BEcRE 2L

Am -

1. BE-_ZT—HF=ZA=+—H H#MH1.0%
e MR RMUE REBIZHE

were: REREHERER:
Contained
Inventory Grade metal
®& m eEsB
(gram per (kilogram,
(kilotonne) tonne, gold) gold)
(7)) (@i 2%) (T2 &)
Indicated resource EHERE 1,960 7.61 14,918
Inferred resource HEER=E 1,555 6.60 10,269

2. As of 31 March 2015, under a cut-off grade of 1.9 gram per

tonne, the estimated probable reserves of the Group were:

2. RZE—RAF=A=+—H 1RE19%=E
/MR R R E AEE G TEAER
HEs:

Contained

Inventory Grade metal

rE A2 eeR

(gram per (kilogram,

(kilotonne) tonne, gold) gold)

(THE) (Z&W &%) (TR &%)

Probable reserves BRI RS 401 4.34 1,737
Note: M it -

SRK Consulting China Limited is an international renounced reputable
technical adviser in mining industry. It has prepared competent person’s
reports for a number of companies for the purpose of initial public offering
(IPO) and mergers and acquisitions exercises in Hong Kong, the PRC and

Singapore.

"
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Biographical Details of Existing Directors and Senior Management

RISSKEHEEAEBREE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Li Dahong

Dr. Li, aged 58, joined the Company as director on 24 February
2016. Dr. Li also serves as a director of X #ER & (1L R)E
2R EBEB AR AR (SSC Sino Gold*) and Taizhou Mining,
respectively. He has over 10 years of experience in investment

banking, mergers and acquisitions and other financial activities.

Dr. Li is now the managing partner of F/BZBIREEEGR
‘A7) (Shanghai Ming Ji Investment Management Ltd.*) and the
managing director of Vision Capital Partners Limited ( X2 &
AR AR]) . Dr. Li graduated from Tsinghua University in civil and
environmental engineering and received a degree in Doctor of

Philosophy from the University of Toronto, Canada.

Mr. Feng Jun

Mr. Feng, aged 54, joined the Company as director on 24
February 2016. Mr. Feng is the legal representative and director
of XEFRE (LF)EXKREBEMABR A7 (SSC Sino Gold*)
and Taizhou Mining, respectively. He is also the sole director of
SSC Mandarin Mining Investment Limited and T G Mining Asia
Limited, the intermediate holding companies of Taizhou Mining.
He graduated from BR7E B A&X 20t & B E % (Shaanxi Institute of
Finance and Economics*) in 1998 and completed a postgraduate
degree in Western Economics. Mr. Feng obtained his accountant
qualification in the PRC in 1993. He has also been accredited
with Qualification of Securities Practitioner in the PRC in 1996
and had received trainings in securities trading business in the
PRC between 1992 and 2004.

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited 12
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Biographical Details of Existing Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Jiang Zhiyong

Mr. Jiang, aged 60, joined the Company as director on 24
February 2016. He worked as a manager in B XA R A R A 7]
(China Natural Gas Company Limited*) from 1992 to 2002.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Ma Xiaona

Ms. Ma, aged 41, joined the Company as director on 24 March
2016. Ms. Ma also serves as a director of XEF & (ILR)E
¥ EBERAR AR (SSC Sino Gold*) and Taizhou Mining,
respectively. She graduated from Hua Dong Polytechnic
University and received her Bachelor degree in English for

Business (International Business) in 1998.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Jiang Quanming

Mr. Jiang Quanming, aged 54, joined the Company as director
on 24 February 2016. He graduated from Peking University in
1984 with a degree in Political Economics. In 2008, he graduated
from the Beijing Normal University with a doctoral degree in
business administration. He became a member of the China
Futures Association in 2009. Mr. Jiang was accredited with the
teacher qualification in economics by the Education Department

of Shaanxi Provincial Government in 2006.

Mr. Guo Wei

Mr. Guo Wei, aged 62, joined the Company as director on 28
April 2016. He is currently the chairman of #iTiz L& HFR A
Bl (Zhejiang Ruifeng Investment Company Limited*). From 1983
to 1988, he worked in Huaxin Consulting Co. Ltd. (¥E{Z4 %
FTHZEBT BBR A F)) . He was the chairman and director of #
MAEKERE (Hangzhou Wuyun Investment Company*) from
2002 to 2005. He was appointed the manager of #/H L B
B2 KJEJE (Hangzhou Nanwang International Hotel*) in 1995.
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Biographical Details of Existing Directors and Senior Management

RISESKEHEEAEBREE

Mr. Orr Joseph Wai Shing

Mr. Orr Joseph Wai Shing, aged 56, joined the Company as
director on 22 December 2008. He is presently a Responsible
Officer of Type 4 (Advising on Securities) and Type 9 (Asset
Management) regulated activities governed by the SFC. Mr. Orr is
also an executive director of his Certified Public Accountant firm
“Joseph Orr & Associates, CPA” in the United States of America.

Mr. Orr is a Certified Public Accountant in the United States of
America (Washington) and a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountant and the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, respectively. He received a Master
of Business Administration from Kellogg School of Management,
Northwestern University and the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology, a Master of Arts degree in International Business
and International Financial Management from the University of
Reading and a Bachelor of Arts (Hons) degree in Accounting and
Finance from Middlesex University and a Professional Diploma on

Accounting and Auditing in the PRC from Zhongshan University.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ma Qianzhou

Mr. Ma, aged 58, has more than 30 years of senior management
experience in gold mining, exploration, ore processing, refining
and merger and acquisitions of mining companies in China.
Mr. Ma is currently a member of National People’s Congress
of Tongguan County, Shaanxi Province, the PRC. Mr. Ma is the
General Manager and director of Taizhou Mining. He had served
as executive director of Gold Association of Shaanxi Province.
He had held senior management positions as the director of
the Small and Medium Entrepreneurs Association, Shaanxi
Province, PRC, and the Vice President of the Small and Medium
Entrepreneurs Association of Weinan City, Shaanxi Province, the
PRC.
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The Directors hereby to present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its

subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial

statements.

RESULTS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2015 are
set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

on page 47.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2015 (2014: Nil).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company, is
set out on page 136. This summary does not form part of the

audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Company and of the Group during the year are set out in note 13

to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS AND
CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital, share
options and convertible bonds during the year are set out in
notes 24, 25 and 26 to the consolidated financial statements,

respectively.
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Report of the Directors
SRS

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s

articles of association and laws of the Cayman Islands.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Company
for the year ended 31 March 2015 had been reviewed by the
existing Audit Committee of the Company before they were duly
approved by the Board under the recommendation of the Audit

Committee.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

The Board makes no representation on whether the Former
Directors had an interest in a business which competes or may

compete with the business of the Group during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the

year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the year are set out in note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of

changes in equity, respectively.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for approximately 100% of the total sales
for the year and sales to the largest customer accounted for
approximately 80.3%. Purchases from the Group's five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 28.5% of the total
purchases for the year and purchases from the largest supplier

accounted for approximately 16.4%.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates
or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest

customers or suppliers during the year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report

were:

Executive Directors
Dr. Li Dahong
Mr. Feng Jun

(appointed on 24 February 2016)
(appointed on 24 February 2016)
(appointed on 24 February 2016)
(resigned on 23 March 2016)
(resigned on 27 May 2015)

Mr. Jiang Zhiyong
Mr. Lee Shing
Ms. Kwok Tai Pan

Non-Executive Director

Ms. Ma Xiaona (appointed on 24 March 2016)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Orr Joseph Wai Shing

Mr. Jiang Quanming (appointed on 24 February 2016)
Mr. Guo Wei (appointed on 28 April 2016)

Dr. Cheung Wai Bun Charles J.~ (resigned on 23 March 2016)

Mr. Jiao Zhi (resigned on 29 February 2016)
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Report of the Directors
SEERE

In accordance with Article 87 of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr. Orr Joseph Wai Shing, will retire at the

forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM”).

Dr. Li Dahong, Mr. Feng Jun, Mr. Jiang Zhiyong, Mr. Jiang
Quanming and Mr. Guo Wei, being directors appointed by the

Board, will hold office until the forthcoming general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming general meeting has a service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation,

other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 10 to

the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

The Board makes no representation on whether the Former
Directors had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any contract of significance to which the Company or any of its

subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2015, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares pursuant to the share option scheme of
the Company (“Underlying Shares”) and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)),
which were recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO, or which were otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:

19

Report of the Directors
EFERS

EEREARGHN RS

EZenNFALERNTESET AR RAER
RARASEEFAHBRBT L ERNERE
MPRREBEAERERBH-

EERFETHRAERKRG - HEE
ROREEE2EZRAR

RZE—RAF=ZA=+—H EFERARAZE
ZETBABRARBINEBE LR (ERREF
HREEGD ([BHFRBEHG])EXVE) 2
Befn - IRIEAR R B BB AR AT 210 MERAAR 5 (48
BRG] REEZT HEELAREEZSFRB
E1&PIE3526EFE 2 Bl - SiiRIRAIZ
R EMBRAES 461K EFES.67TRBTTHE AR
AR Em RARIAT -



Report of the Directors
SEERE

Long positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the REARRDREBRGD ZFR:
Company:
Number and class Approximate
of securities % of the
EEHARER issued share
Underlying capital of
Name Capacity Shares Shares the Company
=R NN
EBITRAZ
" H ERtE [igvi) HER G BRBEDL
Lee Shing Interest in a controlled 1,472,400,000 - 10.95%
corporation (Note 1)
&) REHIREZ#ER (Htzt1)
Personal interest 27,000,000 0.20%
(Note 2)
B A#E 2 (Hiiz2)
Kwok Tai Pan Personal interest - 27,000,000 0.20%
(Note 2)
BRE (EPN: Fa (Hiz2)
Orr Joseph Wai Sing Personal interest - 3,100,000 0.02%
(Note 2)
ENEE: B A 25 (Hfit2)
Jiao Zhi Personal interest - 3,100,000 0.02%
(Note 2)
T8 (EPN: $aS (Hiz2)
Dr. Cheung Wai Bun, Charles J.2 Personal interest - 3,100,000 0.02%
(Note 2)
REWE L A FH A 25 (Hfit2)
Notes: Wt
1. These Shares were held by Yong Li Investments Limited a company 1. WEBRMOBEXKMNEEERATEE  M&Z AR

wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Lee Shing.

2. The long position in the Underlying Shares mentioned above
represent the Shares to be issued and allotted upon the exercise in
full of the share options granted by the Company pursuant to the
share option scheme of the Company.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2015, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interest or
short positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares or debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were recorded in the register
required to be kept pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

Save for the share options that were granted under the share
option scheme, none of the Directors or employees of the Group
or their respective associates were granted by the Company or
its subsidiaries the rights to acquire shares or debentures of the
Company or any other body corporate, or had exercised any
such rights as at 31 March 2015.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
interests and short positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
debentures” above and in the “Share Option Scheme” disclosure
in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements, at no time
during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company granted to
any Director or their respective spouse or minor children, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any
of its holding companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such

rights in any other body corporate.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as is known to any Director or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 March 2015, the following persons (other
than the Directors and chief executives of the Company
whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’ and chief
executives’ interests and short positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and debentures” above) had an interest or short position
in the Shares or Underlying Shares which were recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:
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Report of the Directors

EFEHS

Long positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the

EARAROREBRG 2FR

Company
Number and class Approximate
of securities % of the
HEgERER issued share
Underlying capital of
Name Capacity Shares shares the Company
R NN
EBITRAZ
BE BB ERME Bz HERG BROED
Yong Li Investments Limited Beneficial owner 1,472,400,000
(Note 1) - 10.95%
AMIBRERR LA EnEAA (Brit1)
Wang Dong Interest in a controlled  1,293,672,000 - 9.62%
corporation (Note 2)
Wang Dong R L NG 2y (Htez2)
Midway International Holdings Limited  Beneficial owner 1,293,672,000 - 9.62%
hREIRRGDER A A ERBEAA
Ma Qianzhou (‘Mr. Ma”) Beneficial owner 1,234,776,571 - 9.18%
(Note 3)
FEM(TREED ExEEA (H17£3)
27,000,000 0.20%
(Note 4)
(Htit4)
Baker Steel Capital Managers LLP Investment manager 714,547,200 - 5.59%
(“Baker Steel”) (Note 5)
Baker Steel Capital Managers LLP RERKE (B13£5)
([Baker Steel |)
Notes: HiF -
1. These Shares were held by Yong Li Investments Limited, a company 1. ZERGBXKFNEEBRARFE Mz Q A
wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Lee Shing. AERTCEL2EERESR -

2. These Shares were held by Midway International Holdings Ltd, a

company wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Wang Dong.

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2015

22

2. REROATREEBRODERIFFE Mz
al

N

FAWang Dongt £ 2 EEm A ©



3. Mr. Ma is a shareholder, director and the general manager of
Taizhou Mining. Of these Shares, 169,348,000 Shares were held by
Ms. Zhao Yuebing, the spouse of Mr. Ma, and therefore Mr. Ma was

deemed to have interests in these Shares.

4. The long position in the Underlying Shares mentioned above
represent the Shares to be issued and allotted upon the exercise in
full of the share options granted by the Company pursuant to the

share option scheme of the Company.

5. These Shares were held by five funds managed by Baker Steel,
namely Genus Natural Resources Master Fund, Genus Dynamic
Gold Fund, Ruffer Baker Steel Gold Fund, RIT Capital Partners
Baker Steel and Baker Steel Gold Fund.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2015, the Company
had not been notified of any other person (other than the
Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had an
interest or short position in the Shares or Underlying Shares of
the Company which were required to be kept under Section 336
of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the share option scheme of the Company are set out in
note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the usual
course of business are set out in note 29 to the consolidated

financial statements.

The loans from Ms. Zhao Yuebing, a director of Taizhou Mining
and thus a connected person of the Group, to Taizhou Mining
were fully exempted connected transactions pursuant to Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules as these were conducted on normal
commercial terms or better and these were not secured by the
assets of the Group.

The New Board makes no representation on the compliance of
the GEM Listing Rules in relation to the related party transactions
between Dragon Hill Development Limited, a company owned
as to 85% by a former director of the Company, and the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2015.
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Report of the Directors
SRS

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees based on their
performance, experience and prevailing market rate. Other
employee benefits included provident fund scheme, share option
scheme as well as discretionary bonuses. The determination
of emoluments of the directors of the Company had taken into
consideration of their respective experience, responsibilities in the

Company and the prevailing market conditions.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the

Company’s total issued ordinary share capital was held by the

public as at the date of this report.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

(i) Conditional Approval of the Listing Appeals Committee
on the Company’s Resumption for Trading

Trading in the Shares has been suspended since 11

November 2010.

On 4 June 2015, the GEM Listing Committee decided to
proceed with the cancellation of the listing of the Shares and

the Company was required to submit a resumption proposal

by 4 December 2015.

On 15 January 2016, the GEM Listing Committee decided
that the resumption proposal submitted by the Company on
4 December 2015 was not viable and decided to cancel the

listing of the Shares (the “Listing Decision”).

Notwithstanding the review application made by the
Company in January 2016, on 8 April 2016, the Company
was informed that the GEM Listing (Review) Committee
decided that the resumption proposal submitted by the
Company in March 2016 was not viable and thus uphold the

Listing Decision.
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The New Board appointed Proton Capital Limited as
the sole financial adviser of the Company in respect of
the Company’s resumption and on 15 September 2016,
the Company submitted a revised resumption proposal

(“Resumption Proposal”) to the Listing Appeals Committee.

Following the review hearing held on 9 December 2016,
the Listing Appeals Committee decided to accept the
Resumption Proposal, subject to the Company’s compliance
with the conditions (“Conditions”) as summarised below
to the satisfaction of the Listing Department by 14 March
2017:

1. publication of audited consolidated financial statements
for all the outstanding financial results of the Group with
no material audit qualifications indicating questions with
respect to the consolidation of the results of Taizhou

Mining;

2. resolution of any audit qualification issues;

3. providing a working capital forecast with: (a) all principal
assumptions (including appropriate sensitivity analysis
relating to gold and RMB movements) for at least
twelve months from the expected trading resumption
date; (b) a comfort letter from the auditors or financial
advisers confirming that they are satisfied that the
working capital forecast of the Group has been made
by the Directors after due and careful enquiry; (c)
assurance to the satisfaction of the Listing Department
that any equity financing including the Open Offer will

be completed; and
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(i)

(iii)

S5

4. conduct a follow up review by a professional party
to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Listing
Department, all material weaknesses identified have
been rectified and that the Group has in place an
adequate and effective financial reporting procedures

and internal control systems.

The Listing Appeals Committee also stated in its letter that
resumption of trading in the Company’s securities should
be within a reasonably short period of time after compliance
with the Conditions.

Full repayment of bank borrowings and release of
security over the Group’s mining rights

In mid-2016, the Group fully repaid its bank borrowings and
thus, the security over the Group’s mining rights has been

released.

Litigation instituted by Mr. Lau Kin, a purported creditor,
in the Cayman Islands

The Company had been served with a winding-up petition
by Mr. Lau Kin, a purported creditor of the Company to the
Grand Court of the Cayman Islands against the Company.
The petitioning debt stated in the winding-up petition is
an alleged sum due to Mr. Lau Kin by the Company of
HK$19,494,230.43, comprising HK$16,882,000.00 principal
and interest of HK$2,612,230.43 as of 3 May 2016 (the
“Lau Kin Claim”). Mr. Lau Kin seeks an order for the

appointment of joint official liquidators to the Company.

Mr. Lau Kin alleged that by a deed of assignment made
between Dragon Hill Development Limited (“Dragon
Hill”) and him dated 3 May 2016, Dragon Hill assigned to
him a purported debt of the Company in the amount of
HK$19,494,230.43 at a consideration of HK$2 million only.
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(iv)

The Company considers the validity of the Lau Kin Claim is
in question and is investigating into and seeking legal advice
in relation thereto. If the Lau Kin Claim is indeed found to
be valid, the Lau Kin Claim will be fully settled from the net

proceeds of the Open Offer.

With agreement of all parties involved, hearing date of
the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands for the aforesaid
litigation shall be further adjourned with a hearing to be held
on the first available date after 14 March 2017 (Cayman

time).

Litigation instituted by Mr. Lee Shing, a purported
creditor, in Hong Kong

The Company has recently been served with a petition for
the winding-up of the Company by Mr. Lee Shing (a former
executive director, ex-Chairman, an existing substantial
shareholder of the Company) to the High Court, Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region under the provisions of the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions)
Ordinance (Cap. 32 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “Lee
Shing Petition”).

Mr. Lee Shing alleged in the Lee Shing Petition
that the Company is indebted to him in the sum of
HK$18,223,125.50 (the “Alleged Indebtedness”),
comprising (i) a purported loan of HK$6,925,000.00
assigned by a former Director to Mr. Lee Shing on 12
April 2010; (ii) a loan purportedly provided by Mr. Lee
Shing plus interest calculated up to 30 August 2016
of HK$7,019,020.50 in aggregate; and (iii) director’s
emoluments and reimbursements of HK$4,279,105.00 in

aggregate.
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S5

Before the presentation of the Lee Shing Petition by Mr. Lee
Shing, the Company had been in the course of requesting
relevant documents and supportings from Mr. Lee Shing
so as to substantiate and verify the Alleged Indebtedness.
Although Mr. Lee Shing’s legal adviser has indicated
his client’s intention to provide, the Company has never
received any of the requested documents up to the date of

this report.

The first hearing date of the Lee Shing Petition has been
scheduled to take place on 15 March 2017 in the High
Court, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. For the
avoidance of doubt, 15 March 2017 is not a winding up
date of the Company. According to the legal advice obtained
by the Company, the hearing of 15 March 2017 is an
endorsed hearing whereby a Master would check whether all
procedural matters have been complied with and ascertain
whether the Company or any other person would oppose to
the Lee Shing Petition. If the Company opposes to the Lee
Shing Petition at the hearing to be held on 15 March 2017,
the case would be adjourned before a High Court Judge
for his/her directions as to filing of evidence and other court

documents.

The Company is seeking legal advice and endeavor to
vigorously oppose the Lee Shing Petition. In light of the
conditional approval to the Resumption Proposal from the
Listing Appeals Committee as detailed in the Company’s
announcement dated 19 December 2016, the Company
is implementing the Resumption Proposal whereby a fund
raising plan will be conducted to fully settle, among others,

the Alleged Indebtedness if verified.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2015 were audited by McMillan Woods SG CPA Limited
(‘MMW?”).

MMW was appointed as auditor to the Group on 26 May 2016
to fill the casual vacancy occasioned by the resignation of Parker
Randall CF (H.K.) CPA Limited with effect from 12 May 2016. The
reason for the change of auditor was Parker Randall CF (H.K.)
CPA Limited did not have sufficient human resources to conduct

the audit works of the Company.

Save for the aforesaid, there have been no change of auditors of

the Company in the past three years.
MMW will hold office until the conclusion of the next AGM. A

resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint

MMW as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Li Dahong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 February 2017
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EXEBHRS

MATERIAL CHANGE IN THE MANAGEMENT
TEAM OF THE COMPANY

Subsequent to the financial year ended 31 March 2015, there
had been material changes in the management team of the

Company as follows:

(@) all but one members of the old Board resigned as of 23
March 2016, namely Mr. Lee Shing, Ms. Kwok Tai Pan, Dr.
Cheung Wai Pun Charles J.2 and Mr. Jiao Zhi (collectively,
the “Former Directors”). Save and except for Mr. Orr
Joseph Wai Shing (“Mr. Orr’) who is an independent non-
executive Director since 22 December 2008 and were/are
not involved in the daily management and operation of the
Group, all of the existing Directors (the “New Board”) only

came into place from late February to late April 2016; and

(b) Mr. Ng Wai Kee, the Company’s Company Secretary since
1 July 2012, resigned with effect from 5 April 2016. Ms.
Lam Yuen Ling Eva has been appointed as the Company

Secretary of the Company with effect from 6 April 2016.

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited 30
Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2015

ARAREEERZERED

RBE-_T-—RAF=A=+T—HILMRFE
B ARAERER2EREHEIIMT

(@ BHE—Z—R"FZAZ-+=H B—FK
BONCFIEEESFENE BIFERLEL
BRER L REWE L A FHL RES
S (B IAIEES] ) EDEFHE-B22
SNF+ A+ ARERBYIERTT
EXHWES2EAEEHNRTEEREE L
FEEEA ([AEE])IN FIBEREES
([FESE] )R _T—R"F_AEKZNA
EHREAEME: &

b) REFEEB T _FtA—HBEE
ARABZRAEWE YER-T—RFN
ARARE - MBKLKEIERZEREAR
AlZARWE B R"FEAXNER
HERe



Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Due to the material change as stated in the subsection headed
“Material Change in the Management Team of the Company”, the
New Board cannot make any representation about the adoption
and/or compliance of the principles and the applicable provisions
of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) set
out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules by the Company
and/or the Former Directors for the year ended 31 March 2015,
however, based on the information available to the New Board,
the Company had the following deviations from the Code during
the year ended 31 March 2015:

Code Provision A.4.1 and A.4.2

Code Provisions A.4.1 of the Code stipulates that non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific team, subject to re-
election. Code provision A.4.2 of the Code further stipulates,
among others, that every director, including those appointed for a
specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least

once every three years.

The Company’s non-executive directors were not appointed for
a fixed terms. The Company had not held any annual general
meeting since the latest annual general meeting held on 16
August 2010. As such, the Former Director and Mr. Orr had not

been retired by rotation at least once every three years.
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Corporate Governance Report
EXEBHRS

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

Due to the material change as stated in the subsection headed
“Material Change in the Management Team of the Company”, the
New Board cannot make any representation to the compliance of
the required standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.46 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules by the Former Directors during in the
year ended 31 March 2015.

Having made specific enquiry, Mr. Orr confirmed that he had
complied with the required standard of dealings and the code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors adopted

by the Company during the year ended 31 March 2015.

COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 5.15

Due to the material change as stated in the subsection
headed “Material Changes in the Management Team of the
Company”, the New Board cannot make any representation to
the compliance of Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules by the
Company’s former Company Secretary during the year under

review.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS
Set out below are the attendance records of all the Directors at
the Company’s board meetings, board committee meetings and

general meetings held during the year:

Corporate Governance Report

HanE

Board Audit
Meeting Committee
Meeting

ERERE

Ezges Ef ]

EEHEER
REFNAFENBT2AAAESEE
HOEFZEGEURRANG 2 HALER

FREBIHS

Executive Directors:
Mr. Lee Shing
Ms. Kwok Tai Pan

Independent Non-executive
Directors:

Mr. Orr Joseph Wai Shing

Dr. Cheung Wai Bun Charles J.R
(resigned on 23 March 2016)

Mr. Jiao Zhi

During the year, the Company did not held any general meeting.

BYFATES:

REWEL L FHL

ZAZF=AREEF)

11 N/A i A

Remuneration Nomination General
Committee Committee Meeting
Meeting Meeting
FMEES REZE®
f = N~
Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings entitled to attend
HEEERY ARLESERY
N/A T E A N/A i A -
N/A T E A N/A i A -

11 N/A i A

11 -
11 -
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the chairman and chief executive officer of the
Company are separate and currently exercised by Dr. Li Dahong

and Mr. Feng Jun, respectively.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Due to the material change as stated in the subsection headed
“Material Changes in the Management Team of the Company”,
the New Board cannot make any representation to the
compliance of the continuous professional training requirements

pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5 of the Code.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Due to the material change as stated in the subsection headed
“Material Change in the Management Team of the Company”,
the New Board cannot make any representation on whether
the former independent non-executive Directors satisfied the
requirements of Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules nor whether
they had provided the required written confirmation to Stock
Exchange and/or the Company or not during the year under

review.

The Company confirmed that it has received the annual
confirmation of independence from Mr. Orr pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company still considers Mr. Orr

to be independent.
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Corporate Governance Report

BOARD COMMITTEES

In the year under review, the Company has established three
committees, namely the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee to assist the Board in

discharging its duties and responsibilities.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”)
has written terms of reference that sets out its authorities and
duties, which has been published on the websites of the Stock

Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee comprises all independent non-executive
Directors. Members of the Audit Committee during the year and

as at the date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Jiang Quanming (Chairman)
(appointed on 1 March 2016)
Mr. Orr Joseph Wai Shing
Mr. Guo Wei (appointed on 28 April 2016)
Dr. Cheung Wai Bun Charles J.P
(resigned on 23 March 2016)
Mr. Jiao Zhi (resigned on 29 February 2016)

Note: Mr. Orr Joseph Wai Shing was chairman of the Audit Committee

until he was replaced by Mr. Jiang Quanming on 1 March 2016.
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Corporate Governance Report
EXEBHRS

No meeting had been held by the Audit Committee during the

year.

The current Audit Committee has reviewed the accounts for
the year ended 31 March 2015 which were audited by MMW,
whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming AGM. The
current Audit Committee has recommended to the New Board
the reappointment of MMW as the auditors of the Company at
the forthcoming AGM. The New Board did not take different view

from the Audit Committee on the appointment of external auditor.

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Company (“Nomination
Committee”) has written terms of reference that sets out its
authorities and duties, which has been published on the websites

of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Members of the Nomination Committee during the year and as at

the date of this report are as follows:

Mr. Jiang Quanming (Chairman)

(appointed on 1 March 2016)
Mr. Orr Joseph Wai Shing
Mr. Guo Wei (appointed on 28 April 2016)
Mr. Feng Jun (appointed on 24 March 2016)
Dr. Cheung Wai Bun Charles J.P

(resigned on 23 March 2016)
Mr. Jiao Zhi (resigned on 29 February 2016)

For the year ended 31 March 2015, no meeting was held by
the Nomination Committee. Details of the attendance of the
members of the Nomination Committee are set out under the

subsection headed “Directors’ Attendance at Meetings” above.
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Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (“Remuneration
Committee”) has written terms of reference that sets out its
authorities and duties, which has been published on the websites

of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Members of the Remuneration Committee during the year and as

at the date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Jiang Quanming (Chairman)
(appointed on 1 March 2016)
Mr. Orr Joseph Wai Shing
Mr. Guo Wei (appointed on 28 April 2016)
Ms. Ma Xiaona (appointed on 24 March 2016)
Dr. Cheung Wai Bun Charles J.P. (resigned on 23 March 2016)

Mr. Jiao Zhi (resigned on 29 February 2016)

For the year ended 31 March 2015, no meeting was held by
the Remuneration Committee. Details of the attendance of the
members of the Remuneration Committee in the said meeting are
set out under the subsection headed “Directors’ Attendance at

Meetings” above.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
For the year ended 31 March 2015, the fees paid/payable to the
auditor in respect of the audit and non-audit services were as

follows:
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ACCOUNTABILITY

The Directors are responsible for preparation of financial
statements which give true and fair view of the state of affairs,
the results of operations and cash flows of the Group in
compliance with accounting standards, the GEM Listing Rules,
legal and statutory requirements in relation to financial reporting.
In preparation of the financial statements for the six months
ended 30 September 2014 and for the year ended 31 March
2015, the Directors have adopted suitable accounting policies
and applied them consistently. The financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2015 have been prepared on going

concern basis.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional documents

during the year.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

As one of the measures to safeguard shareholders’ interests
and rights, separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’
meetings on each substantial issue, including the election
of individual Directors, for shareholders’ consideration and
voting. All resolutions put forward at shareholders’ meetings
will be voted by poll pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and
the poll results will be published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company at “www.hkexnews.hk” and
“http://www.aplushk.com/clients/8299GrandTG/”, respectively,

after the relevant shareholders’ meetings.
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Right to convene extraordinary general meeting

Any one or more shareholder of the Company holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one
(21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be

reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All
enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post, together with his/
her contact details, such as postal address, email or fax, to the
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong for the attention of

the Company Secretary.

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

Shareholders may put forward proposals at general meetings of
the Company by sending the same to the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong, specifying his/her information, contact
details and the proposal(s) he/she intends to put forward at the
general meeting regarding any specified transaction/business and

the supporting documents.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
§8 X7 1%z S B ¥ 5

To the shareholders of
GRAND T G GOLD HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited set out on pages 46 to
135, which comprise the consolidated and Company statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2015, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statements of changes in equity and
the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other

explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA”) and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement whether due

to fraud or error.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other

person for the contents of this report.

Except for the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence as explained below, we conducted our audit in
accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as
to whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement. Because of the matters described in the
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion paragraphs, however, we were
not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide

a basis for an audit opinion.

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

() Opening balance on provision of PRC Enterprise Income
Tax
We are unable to obtain sufficient audit evidence to satisfy
ourselves for the amount of the PRC Enterprise Income
Tax provision brought down from previous years has
been properly handled by the Company, and the related
disclosures had been properly recorded and reflected in the
consolidated financial statements as at and for the financial

year-end.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (continued) BB 2 EE #)

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion (Continued) TRREANWER (&)
(ii) Inventories (i) #&

We have been invited to attend the physical inventory count
conducted by the Company in November 2016. However,
due to the prolonged period of time elapsed between the
date of physical inventory count attended and the financial
year-end, we are unable to satisfy ourselves with any
other alternative procedures to be performed on verifying
the details of movements provided by the Company, and
therefore on the amount of inventories and the related
disclosures had been properly recorded and reflected in the
consolidated financial statements as at and for its financial

year-end.

(iii) Property, plant and equipment and mining rights

We are unable to obtain sufficient audit evidence to satisfy
ourselves to ascertain the recoverable amount of the
Property, plant and equipment and mining rights as to
whether the Company can continue as a going concern
in continuing its operation to generate sufficient amount
of cash to substantiate their recoverability and unable to
determine whether any impairment is therefore needed as

based on the assumptions as provided by the Company to

(iii)

EFEXEZ2MN ERARAR-FT-RF
T—AETZEMEEHE - R A
MEMIFEHE S B EM BFERAR
MEEBR BEFBEXETEAEMER
BFZE BRARMEERNESHE F
It BEFELEMNFERERERRED
REMBFERZGAMBRRAZ BT
85 MR BR

X

N
N

WE BERREARRERE

BEEEINGEANEZRERTME
B P52 55 5 LA B PR #E ) AT U 131 2 BB - LA
EH BERRREBETRERLE UE
ERANREEEZF A [ RS ERK
B REEHEERE EARREBEESFRN
BERREFPZBELERRAEGENE
HZBRESFIFLEMRE AUEF
ELEEMHEBRERTCREMBFER

its valuer under the going concern assumptions with our ZEEHBRRAZ BRI -
audit procedures and hence if the related disclosures had
been properly recorded and reflected in the consolidated

financial statements as at and for its financial year-end.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion (Continueq)
(iv) Sales

v)

The Group has expressed its position that Taizhou Mining
has conducted its business with financing provided by two
different parties as financiers and the financier with whom
the assets have been pledged has directly handled the
relevant cash receipts on sales of such pledged assets
on behalf of Taizhou Mining. We are unable to satisfy
ourselves as to the amount of sales transactions executed
in cash receipts and payment between the financiers and
purchasers without sufficient third party evidence on such
cash receipt and payments under our audit procedures, and
whether the related disclosures had been properly recorded
and reflected in the consolidated financial statements as at

the end of the respective financial year-end.

Fundamental uncertainty - going concern

The issues on the event of default of convertible bond and
also the subsequent winding-up petition instituted by a third
party with the Grand Court of Cayman Islands as reported
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements and
certain unresolved litigations, among other things, indicate
the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt on the Group and its ability to continue as
a going concern. We have disclaimed our opinion in respect
of the appropriateness of adopting the going concern basis

for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Because of the significance of the matters described in the Basis
for Disclaimer of Opinion paragraphs, we have not been able
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis
for an audit opinion. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. In all other respects,
in our opinion the consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

Report on Directors’ Report under section 406(2) and Other
Matters under sections 407(2) and 407(3) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance

In addition to the respective responsibilities of the directors
and auditor stated in above section “Report on the Financial
Statements”, the directors are also responsible for the
preparation of the directors’ report as set out on pages 15 to 29

in accordance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

It is our responsibility to read the information in the directors’
report for the year ended 31 March 2015 as set out on pages
15 to 29 to identify and report inconsistencies with the financial
statements. However, we have not audited or reviewed the
directors’ report and accordingly do not express an audit opinion
or a review conclusion or any assurance conclusion on the

directors’ report as a whole.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continuea)
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In accordance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, we

have the following matters to report. In our opinion:

° in respect alone of the inability to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence about those items as described

in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion paragraph above;

e we were unable to determine whether adequate accounting

records had been kept; and
e we have not obtained all the information and explanations
that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, are necessary

and material for the purpose of the audit.

McMillan Woods SG CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

SETO MAN FAI
Practising Certificate Number: P05229

Hong Kong
16 February 2017
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Consolidated Income Statement

melax

For the year ended 31 March 2016 #ElZ —F—AF=H=+—HIFF

2015 2014
—E—EHF —E—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
b &t FET FET
Revenue W 2= 105,820 -
Cost of sales 55 K AR (45,230) -
Gross profit EH 60,590 -
Other income/(losses) Hap A (E18) (252) (419
Selling and distribution expenses  $5& K& 7§55 % (3,015) (2,248)
Administrative expenses TEAX (22,573) (26,306)
Operating results KRR 34,750 (28,973)
Finance costs A& B AR 7 (10,077) (12,106)
Profit before tax B B4 Al i 24,673 (41,079)
Income tax expense Frig®if X (236) -
Profit/(loss) for the year FEBHN(FE) 24,437 (41,079)
Profit/(loss) for the year FEEBRAN(ER)
attributable to: BER:
Equity holders of the Company AR F#E=SFHH A 14,384 (32,688)
Non-controlling interest IEE IR = 10,053 (8,391)
24,437 (41,079
HK Cents HK Cents
&4l Al
Earnings/(loss) per share BRERN(EA)
Basic PN 12 0.11 (0.24)
Diluted BE 12 0.11 (0.24)

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited

Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2015
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehenswe Income
Ju.TﬁD]H_E\Eui

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #Z—-F

—AF=ZA=1—HIFE

2015 2014
—E—RF —HF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt it TER FHT
Profit/(loss)for the year EERBN(FE) 24,437 (41,079)
Other comprehensive income FEHME2EKES:
for the year:
Item that may be reclassified HEAJ e EF D E B
subsequently to profit or loss ZHHE
Exchange differences arising AE G IN B A A
from translation of financial MBmEmEEZ
statements of overseas b 5 =&
subsidiaries 53 (210)
Fair value change and AHHERE Z ?Tﬁ
reclassification to profit or SEPLEFD
loss in regard of available for ZEi8z
sale investment 30 -
83 (210)
Total comprehensive income/ EEZEWBRA(FER)
(loss) for the year R 24,520 (41,289)
Total comprehensive income/ 2EBA(EBA)
(loss) attributable to: MERER:
Equity holders of the Company RRARIERFE A 14,467 (32,901)
Non-controlling interest JEER = 10,053 (8,388)
47 BE-_T-RF=A= 2 gggé?&



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
ORI E

As at 31 March 2015 R=-ZFE—AF=H=4+—H

2015 2014
—E—EHF —E—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
iaF FExT FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W% BB k&EE 13 511,411 491,310
Prepaid land lease premium ENTHEEER 1,249 1,249
Mining rights related assets R AR A & 14 58,158 59,488
570,818 552,047
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 17 125,118 136,714
Other receivables and H b W kI8 K
prepayments TEA FRIE 18 67,247 72,738
Cash and cash equivalents HeIReSEER 355 400
192,720 209,852
CURRENT LIABILITIES =R
Trade and other payables ERNE SRR
H b fE S R 20 106,034 105,493
Deferred income W = 6,384 7,145
Promissory notes O R IE 23 12,500 12,500
Tax payables FERHIE 621 426
Bonds &5 22 18,653 18,145
Interest-bearing borrowings HEEE 21 29,138 24,393
173,330 168,102
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEETFEHE 19,390 41,750
TOTAL ASSETS LESS HWEEBRRBEE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 590,208 593,797
Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2015 48



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

o ] D. \Y t
OB E
As at 31 March 2015 R=-F—HF=H=4+—H
2015 2014
—E—RF —HF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k2 FExT THET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Long term loans REFE 21 486,200 514,309
486,200 514,309
NET ASSETS BEEFE 104,008 79,488
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXRFEE
Share capital &N 24 53,794 53,794
Reserves i 26 53,962 39,495
Equity attributable to equity RAGREZEFEBA
holders of the Company fElERE= 107,756 93,289
Non-controlling interest FEPE AR = (3,748) (13,801)
TOTAL EQUITY R4 104,008 79,488
The financial statements on pages 46 to 135 were approved and FA6HEF1BBE MNP B HRER —tF=

authorised for issue by the board of directors on 16 February

2017 and are signed on its behalf by:

Li Dahong
EP NN
Director

EF
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Statement of Financial Position
B FSiR IR =

As at 31 March 2015 R=-ZFE—AF=H=4+—H

2015 2014
—E-1F —E—-mF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B &t FEx FAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Interests in subsidiaries NG A 16 - -
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Deposits, prepayments and e ?’Eiﬁ%ﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ
amounts due from subsidiaries M8~ R IE 16 325,775 329,409
325,775 329,409
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Promissory notes A B 23 12,500 12,500
Other payables and accruals HthERNFIERESTER 44,435 39,817
Bonds B 22 18,653 18,145
75,588 70,462
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 250,187 258,947
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT #EERABERE
LIABILITIES 250,187 258,947
NET ASSETS EEFE 250,187 258,947
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXR#E
Share capital fi& 7% 24 53,794 53,794
Reserves i 26 196,393 205,153
TOTAL EQUITY A 250,187 258,947
The financial statements on pages 46 to 135 were approved and FAPB E FIB/EMNBHEREN—_ZE—+F—

authorised for issue by the board of directors on 16 February
2017 and are signed on its behalf by:

Li Dahong
YN
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes iﬂ# mtg

Ju.TﬁD]T lEE Tl 22

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #Z=F—hF=H=1+—HIFZ

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RREREREREARE
Foreign Retained
Issued currency Share  Convertible profit/ Non-
share Share  translation option bonds  Revaluation (Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses) Total interest total
g Ak REEFH/

BRTRA  RIVEE  ABRE BRERE B5RE  EERE (HER) ait FEkER L0
HKS000  HKS'000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK$000
TAn  TER TR TR TER  TET TR TEn  TER  TiEx

t 1 April 2013 RZE-ZENA-H 53,794 1,690,765 24,613 26,708 5,036 (80)  (1,674,691) 126,190 (5,413) 120,777
Issue of shares upon placing and =~ REEREAREEHE

capitalisation of shareholders’ Bk

loan - - - - -
Issue of shares upon conversion PN AT AR E 85

of convertible bonds Bkt - - - - -

Recognition of equity settled
based payments

Transfer to retained profit

Change of convertible bonds to
bonds payable

Transaction with owner

BRRES TR

BRE
REERE

BRI
HEFAZRS

BN
33|

Nt profit/loss) for the year ERERN/ (BR)FE - - (32,689 (8391) (41,079
Other comprehensive income: Et2ERA:
Exchange differences arising RAESNHERT
from translation of financial BBRRAE iZ
statement of overseas ERER
subsidiaries - - - 8 (210)
Fair value change and
reclassification to profit or loss
in regard of available for sale
investment - - - - -
Total comprehensive income FERARNEER
for the year - - (32,688) (8,388) (41,289)
At March 31 2014 —“£-RmE=A=1-H 1,690,765 (80)  (1,707,379) (13,801) 79,488
AEESERBRAR
BE-Z-AF=A=1t—-HILFEZER



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HORBEmEBER

For the year ended 31 March 2016 #ElZ2 —F—AF=HA=+—HIFF

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

VNG 3532 9N 3
Foreign Retained
Issued currency Share  Convertible profit/ Non-
share Share translation option bonds  Revaluation (Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses) Total interest total
TER REEN/
BETRE  RMEE NERERE BRERE BREE  EREE  (2HER) At FERER @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TiEn TiEn TiEn TR TiEn TiEn TEn TR TiEn TiEn
t 1 April 2014 RZE-BEMA-A 53,794 1,690,765 24,400 26,703 5,036 (30)  (1,707,379) 93,289 (13,801) 79,488
Issue of shares upon placingand ~ RE & RBAILRE
capitalisation of shareholders’ ERBEARA
loan - - - - - - - - - -
Issue of shares upon conversion ~ RERTRFEESEF
of convertible bonds “ﬁﬂ&‘ i - - - - - - - - - -
Recognition of equity settled based MR ELE R
payments - - - - - - - - - -
Transfer 10 retained profi REBEH - - - - - - - - - -
Transaction with owner BRAALRS - - - - - - - - - -
Net profit/loss) for the year FEEA/ (BR)FE - - - - - - 14,384 14,384 10,053 24,437
Other comprehensive income: EH2ERA: - - - - - - - - - -
Exchange differences arising BERNERAR
from translation of financial BBREMELL
statement of overseas subsidiaries X EE - - 53 - - - - 53 - 53
Fair value change and AHEHEREL
reclassification to profit or loss NTFEZBR
in regard of avallable for sale ENNERER
investment - - - - - 30 - 30 - 30
Total comprehensive income FE2ANALE
for the year - - 53 - - 30 14,384 14,467 10,053 24,520
At March 31 2015 RZE-RF=A=1-A 53,794 1,690,765 24,453 26,703 5,036 - (1,692,995 107,756 (3,748) 104,008
Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited 52
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Consolidated Cash FIow Statement

Ju.T.ﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #Z—-F

SRERER

—AF=ZA=1—HIFE

2015 2014
—E-RF — &
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
g3 FERT FHET
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING REKEEBHMNRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit(loss) before tax BRERRE R (EE) 24,673 (41,079
Adjustments for: AT ZIBELFHE:
Depreciation and amortisation WEREH 22,116 1,913
Amortisation of convertible MR ES 2 #E R
bonds and convertible bonds Al IR E 5T R
interest 509 604
Loss on disposal of Available for & A HERE UK
sale investment and property, Y B E K EE 2 k8
plant and equipment 1,796 -
Operating results before working 7% 18 & & = ) A Y
capital changes LS 49,094 (38,562)
Changes in inventories FEEH) 11,596 (17,159)
Changes in trade and other FEWE 5 ERR &
receivables H i & W BRI & 4,226 (18,509)
Changes in trade and other FERE SRR K
payables E A< BR TR & 736 22,713
Changes in deposit and e RIEN HIEE
prepayments 1,266 (1,646)
Deferred income PR AE U 2= (761) 7,107
Cash generated from/(used in)  EL¥EBEL, (FTA)
operations Z2HE 66,157 (41,056)
Overseas tax paid B8N IE (236) -
Net cash generated from BRETHEE2HSTE
operating activities 65,921 (41,056)
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING REZHELEZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, BEME BEM&E
plant and equipment (42,496) (50,572)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

HoIREMER

For the year ended 31 March 2016 #ElZ2 —F—AF=HA=+—HIFF

2015 2014
—Z-8fF —E-MF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
g3 TERT FET
Net cash (used in) investing REZE (TR 2RE&FE
activities (42,496) (60,572)
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING RiEEBZHERE
ACTIVITIES
Bank loans repaid BEEERRITER (125) (812)
Proceeds from loans KB ERE PG 5IE 23,618 112,894
Repayment of loans EBEER (46,998) (20,035)
Net cash (used in)/generated @WEEE (FTA),~
from financing activities FER&FE (23,505) 92,047
NET CHANGE IN CASHAND HRE&RBRE&%EEHIER
CASH EQUIVALENTS BEFHE (80) 419
Cash and cash equivalents RIUWA—BZHRE R
at 1 April ReEMFEIEE 400 127
Effect of foreign exchange rate  [ER & &) Z 2 H%8
changes, net 35 (146)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R=A=+—HzERE&K
AT 31 MARCH BRe%ERA 355 400
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CORPORATE INFORMATION
Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was

incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands. Its principal place of business in Hong
Kong is Room 2410, 24/F, Wayson Commercial Building,28
Connaught Road West, Sheung Wan,Hong Kong. The
Company’s shares are listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market (the “GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The principal places of the business are in The People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”) and Hong Kong. The principal
activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries (together with the Company collectively referred
to as the “Group” hereinafter) are principally engaged in gold
exploration, mining and mineral processing. Details of the
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 16 to

the consolidated financial statements.
The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars

(“HK$"), and the functional currency of the Company is HK$,

with values rounded to the nearest thousand.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=/ H
mS

B} 75 ¥ 2 BfU 5F

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

2.1 Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in
accordance with the applicable requirements of the

predecessor Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32).

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments and
interpretations which are or have become effective.
It has also issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
which are first effective or available for early adoption
for the current accounting period of the Company.
The following paragraph provides information on initial
application of these developments to the extent that
they are relevant to the Company for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated

financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continuead)
2.2 Initial application of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards
In the current year, the Group initially applied the

following Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards:

HK (IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies

Amendments to Offsetting Financial Assets and
HKAS 32 Financial Liabilities

Amendments to Recoverable amount disclosures
HKAS 36 for non-financial assets

Annual Amendments to HKFRS 2 and
improvements HKFRS 3

(2010-2012)

The initial application of these financial reporting
standards does not necessitate material changes in the

Group’s accounting policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

2.3 Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards in issue
but not yet effective
The following Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
in issue at 31 March 2015 have not been applied in
the preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the year then ended since they were not

yet effective for the annual period beginning on 1 April

2015.

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments

HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Amendments to Disclosure Initiative
HKAS 1

Amendments to Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
HKAS 16 and Depreciation and Amortisation
HKAS 38

Amendments to Bearer Plants
HKAS 16 and
HKAS 41

Amendments to Defined Benefits Plans: Employee
HKAS 19 Contributions

Amendments to Equity Method in Separate Financial
HKAS 27 Statements
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2.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

2.3 Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards in issue

but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to
HKAS 28 and
HKFRS 10
Amendments to
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12
and HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to
HKFRS 11

Annual Improvements
(2010-2012)

Annual Improvements
(2012-2014)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Ventures

Investment Entities: Applying the

Consolidation Exception

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in
Joint Operations

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 13 and
HKAS 40

Amendments to HKFRS 5, HKFRS 7 and
HKAS 19
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

2.3 Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards in issue

but not yet effective (Continued)

The Company and the Group are required to initially
apply these standards and amendments in its annual
consolidated financial statements beginning on 1
April 2016, except that the Company and the Group
are required to initially apply Amendments to HKAS
19, Annual Improvements (2010-2013) and Annual
Improvements (2011-2013) in its annual consolidated
financial statements beginning on 1 April 2015, and
to initially apply HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9 (2014) in its
annual consolidated financial statements beginning on
1 April 2017 and 2018 respectively. HKFRS 14 is not
applicable to the Company and the Group.

The Group has commenced an assessment of the
impact of these new and amended HKFRSs but is
not yet in a position to state whether they would
have a significant impact on its results of operations
and financial position. In addition, the requirements
of Part 9 “Accounts and Audit” of the new Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) come into
operation as from the Company’s first financial year
commencing on or after 3 March 2014 in accordance
with Section 358 of that Ordinance. The Group is in the
process of making an assessment of expected impact
of the changes in the Companies Ordinance on the
consolidated financial statements in the period of initial
application of Part 9 of the new Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622). So far it has concluded that
the impact is unlikely to be significant and only the
presentation and the disclosure of information in the

consolidated financial statements will be affected.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs, accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the applicable disclosures requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of certain properties and financial instruments

which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions
and estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgment in the process of applying the accounting
policies. The area involving critical judgement, and areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to these
financial statements, are disclosed in note 4 to the financial

statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation

of these financial statements are set out below:

(a) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) made
up to 31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which
the Group has control. Control is achieved when the

company:
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

() has power over the investee;

(i) is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from

its involvement with the investment; and

(i) has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The existence and effect of potential voting rights that
are currently exercisable or convertible are considered

when assessing whether the Group has control.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-

consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary
represents the difference between the proceeds
of the sale and the Group’s share of its net assets
together with any goodwill relating to the subsidiary
which was not previously charged or recognised in the
consolidated income statement and also any related

accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
profits on transactions between Group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the

Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)
(b) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities (including special purpose
entities) over which the Group has the power to control
the financial and operating policies so as to obtain
benefits from their activities. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible are considered when assessing whether the

Group controls another entity.

In consolidated financial statements, acquisition of
subsidiaries (other than those under common control) is
accounted for by applying the purchase method. This
involves the estimation of fair value of all identifiable
assets and liabilities, including contingent liabilities
of the subsidiary, at the acquisition date, regardless
of whether or not they were recorded in the financial
statements of the subsidiary prior to acquisition. On
initial recognition, the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary are included in the consolidated statement
of financial position at their fair values, which are also
used as the bases for subsequent measurement in

accordance with the Group’s accounting policies.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment
loss unless the subsidiary is held for sale or included
in a disposal group. The results of the subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividends received and receivable at the reporting date.
All dividends whether received out of the investee’s
pre- or post- acquisition profits are recognised in the

Company’s profit or loss.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)
(c) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair
value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities at the date of acquisition.
Such goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated

impairment losses.

Capitalised goodwill arising on an acquisition of a
business is presented separately in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the acquisition. A cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, and whether there is an indication that the unit
may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a financial year, the cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that financial year. When the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less
than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment
loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the other
assets of the unit pro rate on the basis of the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss
for goodwill is recognised directly in the consolidated
income statement. An impairment loss for goodwill is

not reversed in subsequent periods.

On subsequent disposal of the relevant cash-generating
unit, the attributable amount of goodwill capitalised
is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on

disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

(d) Revenue recognition

(e)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable and is recognised
when it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be

measured reliably as follows:

i) sales of compound gold and other metallic
products are recognised when the goods are
delivered and the risk and rewards of ownership

have passed to the customer;

i)  processing fee income and handling income, when

the services are rendered; and

i) interest income is recognised on a time proportion
basis taking into account the principal outstanding

and the interest applicable.

Property, plant and equipment

Land and building

The land and buildings elements of a lease of land and
buildings are considered separately for the purpose of
lease classification, unless the lease payments cannot
be allocated reliably between the land and buildings
elements, in which case, the entire lease is generally
treated as a finance lease. To the extent that the
allocation of the lease payments between the land and
buildings can be made reliably, the leasehold interests
in land are classified as prepaid land lease payments
under operating leases, which are carried at cost and
amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis,
and the buildings elements are classified as property,

plant and equipment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 3. EXREBHHBEME »#)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued) e) ME-BERRE (&)

Land and building (Continued)

Cost of self-constructed properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment includes the cost of
materials, direct labour, the initial estimate, where
relevant, of the costs of dismantling and removing the
items and restoring the site on which they are located,

and an appropriate proportion of production overhead.

Depreciation of leasehold land and buildings in
Hong Kong

Depreciation of the Group’s leasehold land and
buildings in Hong Kong is calculated to write off their
valuation over the estimated useful lives on a straight-

line basis.

Depreciation of buildings in the PRC, excluding
Hong Kong

Depreciation of the Group’s buildings in the PRC,
excluding Hong Kong, is calculated on a straight-line
basis to write off their valuation over the unexpired
term of the relevant land use rights or 20-30 years,

whichever is shorter.

Other items of property, plant and equipment are
stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses, if any. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the

acquisition of the items.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)
(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(f)

Depreciation of buildings in the PRC, excluding
Hong Kong (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of other
items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight line
method over their estimated useful lives. The principal

annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Plant and machinery 8 -20%
Furniture, fixture and office equipment 10 - 20%
Leasehold improvement 20 - 50%
Motor vehicles 10 - 20%

Useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use. The
gain or loss on disposal or retirement of an asset is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is

recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite
useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. Alternatively, intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any

subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible assets are measured at the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and are recognised in the
consolidated income statement when the asset is

derecognised.

Mining rights

Mining rights with definite useful lives are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment loss. Amortisation is provided using the unit
of production method based on the actual production
volume over the estimated total proved and probable

reserves of the ore.

Exploration and evaluation assets

These are stated at cost less impairment loss.
Exploration and evaluation assets included
topographical and geological survey drilling, exploratory
drilling, sampling and trenching and expenditure
incurred for the technical feasibility studies and incurred
to secure further mineralisation in the mine ore.
Expenditure incurred prior to obtaining the exploration
and evaluation rights to explore an area are written off
as expense as incurred. Once the technical feasibility
and commercial viability of extracting the mineral
resource had been determined and that the project
reaches development phase, exploration and evaluation
costs capitalised are amortised. If exploration property
is abandoned during the evaluation stage, the total

expenditure thereon will be written off.

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for
impairment when facts and circumstances suggest
that the carrying amounts of exploration and evaluation

assets may exceed its recoverable amount.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

(i)

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are

classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as
assets of the Group at their fair value or, if lower, at
the present value of the minimum lease payments,
each determined at the inception of the lease. The
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in
the consolidated balance sheet as a finance lease
obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between
finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation
SO as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability. Finance lease charges
are charged directly to profit or loss, unless they are
directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case
they are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s

general policy on borrowing costs.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged
to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable
as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are
recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a

straight-line basis over the lease term.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases
are up-front payments to acquire long-term interests
in lessee-occupied properties. Prepaid land lease
payments are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses and are
amortised to the consolidated income statement over

the remaining lease terms on a straight-line basis.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

)

(k)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets
to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If the
recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised as an expense

immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior periods. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised as income immediately.

Inventories
Gold Mining Division
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net

realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, cost
of conversion and other costs incurred in bring the

inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make

to the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

U

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
on the statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. Financial assets and financial
liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in

profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans
and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention

in the marketplace.

71

=B

fm © BI ¥5 ¥ 2R BfY 51

3. EXENHERE &)

U]

¢RI A
E—SEERKASRIASNZE]
Wh emEERSREERMBR
AEABER - cHEELERBER
BARABARRATEFE WERE
TemEERERAE (RATET
EREEarEENERNEERESR
BERIN) cBEEREFRGHRA  RE
RERFMATHEEXEREEL
AN ESGEPHR (ER) - WEE

ATEEIERTEEREENSRHE
EXERABEEERER KRR
RIBERER

AEETREED RE R EYK
tx&ﬂf,\ﬁ%fﬁﬁrﬂﬁﬁoﬁﬁﬂﬁéz
FIEEHEEERXSBEEBRAN
RIFER - AFEEHEARENSR
QBRI L 2 HHARXNEEZ S
MEEES-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2':' =¥
wik 3

B} 75 ¥ 22 BfU 5F

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

U

Financial instruments (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial

asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest

basis for debt instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. At each reporting date
subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including trade and other receivables, deposit for
acquisition and bank balances and cash) are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
any identified impairment losses. An impairment loss
is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of the estimated future cash flows

discounted at the original effective interest rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

U

Financial instruments (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives
that are either designated in this category or not
classified in any of the other category. At each reporting
date subsequent to initial recognition, available-for-sale
financial assets are measured at fair value. Changes
in fair value are recognised in equity, until the financial
asset is disposed of or is determined to be impaired,
at which time, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in equity is removed from equity and

recognised in profit or loss.

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not
have a quoted market price in an active market and
whose fair value cannot be reliably measured and
derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by
delivery of such unquoted equity instruments, they are
measured at cost less any identified impairment losses

at each reporting date subsequent to initial recognition.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of
impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one ore more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial
asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial

assets have been affected.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

U

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

(i)

(i

(ii)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or

counterparty; or

default or delinquency in interest or principal

payments; or

it becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation. For
certain categories of financial assets, such as
trade and other receivables, that are assessed
not to be impaired individually are subsequently
assessed for impairment on a collective basis.
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio
of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in
the number of delayed payments in the portfolio
and other observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on

receivables.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when

there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired,

and is measured as the difference between the asset’s

carrying amount and the present value of the estimated

future cash flows discounted at the original effective

interest rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

U

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with
the exception of trade and other receivables, where
the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognised in profit or
loss. When trade and other receivables are considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously

written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment
is reversed does not exceed what the amortised
cost would have been had the impairment not been

recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified according to the substance
of the contractual arrangements entered into and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity

instrument.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

U

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. The Group’s financial
liabilities are generally classified into other financial

liabilities and equity instruments.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments through the expected
life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a

shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest

basis for debt instruments.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
borrowings and obligation under finance lease) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the

effective interest method.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue

costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
and loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity

instruments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

U

Financial instruments (Continued)

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the
financial assets are transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial assets. On derecognition of
a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain
or loss that had been recognised directly in equity
is recognised in profit or loss. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a

collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged,
cancelled or expires. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in

profit or loss.
Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets

other than goodwill (see the accounting policy in

respect of goodwill above).
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

U

(m)

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2015

Financial instruments (Continued)

Derecognition (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.
If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised as an expense

immediately.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the assets
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised as income immediately.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less allowance
for impairment. An allowance for impairment of trade
and other receivables is established when there is
objective evidence that the Group will not be able to
collect all amounts due according to the original terms
of receivables. The amount of the allowance is the
difference between the receivables’ carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition. The amount of the allowance is

recognised in the consolidated income statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

(n)

(o)

(P

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement, cash and cash equivalents represent cash
at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of

change in value.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognised in the income statement
over the period of the borrowings using the effective

interest method.

Interest-bearing borrowings are classified as current
liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months

after the reporting date.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are

stated at cost.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

(q) Foreign currency translation

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e.
the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each date
of the statement of financial position, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date of the statement of
financial position. Non- monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign

currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value
are included in profit or loss for the period except for
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items in respect of which gains or losses are recognised
directly in equity, in which cases, the exchange

differences are also recognised in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

(q) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Groups foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Company at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the reporting date, and their
income and expenses are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the year, in which case,
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised as a separate component of equity
(the exchange reserve). Such exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the

foreign operation is disposed of.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the acquisition,
construction or production of any qualifying asset are
capitalised during the period of time that is required to
complete and prepare the asset for its intended use. A
qualifying asset is an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended
use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed when

incurred.

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset when expenditure for the asset
is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset
for its intended use or sale are being undertaken.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are

completed.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

(s)

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2015

Retirement benefits schemes

(M)

(i)

(iii)

Employee leaves entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the

reporting date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity

leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by
the Group and employees are calculated as a
percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The
retirement benefit scheme cost charged to the
income statement represents contributions payable

by the Group to the funds.

Contributions to state-managed retirement
benefits schemes and the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme are charged as expenses when
employees have rendered service entitling them to

the contributions.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and
only when, the Group demonstrably commits itself
to terminate employment or to provide benefits
as a result of voluntary redundancy by having
a detailed formal plan which is without realistic

possibility of withdrawal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

®)

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax

currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported
in the consolidated income statement because it
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the

reporting date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the
balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit

nor the accounting profit.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

®)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and interest in jointly-controlled entity,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be

recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the reporting date. Deferred tax is charged
or credited to profit or loss, except when it relates to
items charged or credited directly to equity, in which

case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and

liabilities on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

(u) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditures expected to settle the

obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is

remote.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, the party controls, is controlled by,
or is under common control with, the Group; has
an interest in the Group that gives it significant
influence over the Group; or has joint control over

the Group;

i. the party is an associate;

ii. the party is a jointly-controlled entity;
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

(v)

(w)

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2015

Related parties (Continued)
iv. the party is a member of the key management

personnel of the Company or its parent;

v. the party is a close member of the family of any
individual referred to in (i) or (iv);

vi. the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly-

controlled or significantly influenced by or for

which significant voting power in such entity

resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual

referred to in (iv) or (v); or

vii. the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of the Group; or of any entity

that is related party of the Group.

Research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an

expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when
the projects are clearly defined; the expenditure is
separately identifiable and can be measured reliably;
there is reasonable certainty that the projects are
technically feasible; and the products have commercial
value. Product development expenditure which does

not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

During the year, all research and development costs

have been expensed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

(x)

Segment reporting

The Group identified operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal
financial information reported to the executive directors
for their decisions about resources allocation to the
Group’s business components and for their review of
the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information
reported to the executive directors are determined

following the Group’s major product and service lines.

The Group has identified the following reportable

segments:

()  Exploration of gold mine;

(i)  Corporation

Each of these operating segments is managed
separately as each of the product and service line
requires different resources as well as marketing
approaches. All inter-segment transfers are carried out

at arms length prices.

The management policies the Group used for reporting
segment results under HKFRS 8 are the same as
those used in its financial statements prepared under
HKFRSs, except finance costs, Income tax and
corporate income and expenses which are not directly
attributable to the business activities of any operating
segment are not included in arriving at the operating

results of the operating segment.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

(x)

v)

Segment reporting (Continued)

Segment assets include all assets but corporate assets
which are not directly attributable to the business
activities of any operating segment are not allocated
to a segment, which primarily applies to the Group’s

headquarter.

Segment liabilities exclude corporate liabilities which are
not directly attributable to the business activities of any

operating segment and are not allocated to a segment.

No asymmetrical allocations have been applied to

reportable segments.

Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a clearly distinguishable
component of the Group’s business that has been
disposed of or is classified as held for sale, which
represents a separate major line of business or

geographical area of operations of the Group.

Share-based payment transactions Equity-settled
share-based payment transactions Share options
granted to employees

For grants of share options which are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value
of services received determined by reference to the
fair value of share options granted at the grant date
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, with a corresponding increase in equity (share
options reserve). The impact of the revision of the
original estimates during the vesting period, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss with a corresponding

adjustment to share options reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuead)

(z) Share-based payment transactions Equity-settled
share-based payment transactions Share options
granted to employees (Continued)

For share options which are vested at the date of grant,
the fair value of the share options granted is expensed

immediately to profit or loss.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share options reserve
will be transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to

retained profits.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions based on past experience, expectations of
future events and other information. The key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that may have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next

financial year are disclosed below:

Impairment of trade and other receivables

Management regularly reviews the recoverability and/
or ageing of trade and other receivables. Appropriate
impairment for estimated irrecoverable amounts are
recognised in income statement when there is objective

evidence that the asset is impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
OB FS IR = BU5E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Impairment of trade and other receivables (Continued)

In determining whether impairment loss is recognised,
the Group takes into consideration the ageing status
and the recoverability. Specific allowance is only made
for receivables that are unlikely to be collected and is
recognised on the difference between the estimated future
cash flow expected to receive discounted at the original

effective interest rate and its carrying value.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

In applying the accounting policy on property, plant and
equipment with respect to depreciation, management
estimates the useful lives of various categories of property,
plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
machinery of similar nature and functions. The estimated
useful lives reflect the management’s estimate of the period
that the Group intends to derive future economic benefits

from the use of the Group’s property, plant and equipment.

Impairment of mining and exploration assets

The carrying value of mining and exploration assets is
reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not
be recoverable in accordance with the accounting policy
as disclosed in note 3 to the financial statements. The
recoverable amount of these assets, or where appropriate,
the cash-generating unit to which they belong, is the
higher of its fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
In determining the value in use, estimation is made on the
expected future cash flows generated by these assets which
are discounted at a suitable discount rate to their present

value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Impairment of goodwill

Management reviews and determines whether goodwill
is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units
to which goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use
requires management to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the

present value of those cash flows.

Mine resources and reserves

Mining rights and mining development assets are amortised
over the estimated useful lives of the mines in accordance
with the production plans of the entities concerned and the
mineral resources and reserves of the mines using the units

of production method.

The process of estimating the quantities of the Group’s gold
reserve and resources is inherently imprecise and represent
only approximate amounts because of the subjective
judgments involved in developing such information based
on available geological, geophysical, engineering and
economic data. These estimates may change substantially
as additional data from ongoing development activities
and production performance becomes available and as
economic conditions impacting mineral prices and costs

change.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Valuation of convertible bonds

The directors use their judgement in selecting an appropriate
valuation technique for the Group’s convertible bonds which
are not quoted in an active market. Valuation techniques
commonly used by market practitioners are applied.
The fair value of the liability and equity components of
the convertible bonds are estimated by an independent
professional valuer based on their techniques. The fair value
of these components varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions. Any change in these variables so
adopted may materially affect the estimation of the fair value

of these components.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group had two operating segments for the year ended
31 March 2015, namely Gold Mining Division, Corporate

Division.

Segment profits do not include finance costs. Segment
assets and liabilities are allocated based on the operations

of the segments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment information by operating segments is presented as

follows:

Year ended 31 March 2015

THER (&)
< 192 HEER 25T :

BER SR

=
wi O

B ¥5 ¥R 2R By 5%

BE-_ZE-—HAF=A=1t—HLEFE

Gold Mining Corporate Elimination Total
S o Ik #ast
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK’000
FTHET THET THET THERT
Segment revenue: 7 P s
Turnover for external REINBREP 2w
customers 105,820 - - 105,820
Gross profit EF 60,590 = = 60,590
Other income HAp e A (223) (29) - (252)
Operating expenses KREER (15,628) (9,696) - (25,324)
Depreciation and TE R
amortization* (264) - - (264)
Segment results DEVEE 44,475 (9,725) - 34,750
Finance costs BB AR (8,281) (1,796) - (10,077)
Profit/(loss) before tax BRELATER (E18) 36,194 (11,521) = 24,673
Income tax expense FTigfiF X (236) - - (236)
Net profit (loss) for the year FE % F| (E518) F58 35,958 (11,521) = 24,437
Segment assets DEEE 761,895 1,792,826 (1,791,183) 763,538
Segment liabilities DEHBE 789,552 224,371 (354,393) 659,530
Capital expenditure 2N 42,496 - - 42,496
Depreciation and rEREHE
amortization** 22,116 - - 22,116
93 _ o Z(E & Hﬁﬁﬁﬁi\\a
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OB FS IR = BU5E

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. oHER (&)
Year ended 31 March 2014 BE-FE-—NFE=ZA=+t—-HLEFE
Gold Mining Corporate Elimination Total
B g gk st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK’000
FET FET TET FHET
Segment revenue: 7 P U
Turnover for external REMNBER 2 W=
customers - - - -
Gross profit EF - - - -
Other loss Hith 518 (394) (25) - (419)
Operating expenses KEBH (17,017 (9,624) - (26,641)
Depreciation and e R#EE
amortisation* (1,903) (10) - (1,913)
Segment results DEELE (19,314) (9,659) - (28,973)
Finance costs BB A (10,445) (1,661) - (12,108)
Loss before tax PR AT &R (29,759) (11,320) - (41,079)
Income tax expense FEHAX - - - -
Net loss for the year FEBREFH (29,759) (11,320) - (41,079)
Segment assets DEEE 760,293 1,792,630 (1,791,024) 761,899
Segment liabilities DB E 823,896 212,696 (354,181) 682,411
Other segment information £ fth 2 #8 & %4
Capital expenditure BERREX 50,873 - - 50,873
Depreciation and HrERE#HE
amortization™ 21,773 - - 21,773

*

administrative expenses.

*k
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuead)
Geographical segments

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong and other
parts of the PRC whereas the principal markets for the
Group’s products are mainly located in other parts of the
PRC.

Segment information by geographical segments is presented

as follows:

5.
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B EE D 2 DR ERZINAT

2015 2014
—E-hF —E—MmF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAET
Segment revenue by location of BEFFEMEID 2
customers a0
PRC, excluding Hong Kong, ':P (TBIEES-
Macao and Taiwan B & A e 105,820 -
105,820 -
Non-current assets IRBEE
PRC, excluding Hong Kong, FE(TERESE-
Macao and Taiwan RFIR & E 570,815 552,041
Hong Kong B 3 6
570,818 552,047

Included in revenues are revenues of approximately HK$85
million (2014: HK$ nil million) which arose from sales to
the Group’s largest customer. There is one customer

contributed 10% or more to the Group’s revenues for 2015.
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6. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 6. WamkHEMUA
Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, Wt EER BEEFE(BIRE
net of trade discounts and returns and various types of S - RERTREE 2B NE (40
government surcharges where applicable, and the value of ER) ) REHERBE ZEE:

services rendered:

2015 2014
—ZE-ffF —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Revenue U &5
Sale of goods HEE M 105,820 -
105,820 -
Other income Hitb g A
Bank interest income |RITH B ULA - -
Compensation income HE WA - -
Sundry income FIEUA - 40
- 40
Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
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FINANCE COSTS 7. RERA
2015 2014
—E-EHF —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Interest on bank borrowing RITEEF S 719 756
Interest and amortisation on AR E ST B K iE
convertible bonds 509 603
Interest on short term loans REIEZRF A 1,287 1,057
Interest on long term loans EHEZRF A 7,562 9,690
Finance costs R & B A 10,077 12,106
The weighted average capitalisation rate on funds borrowed BEASMNINETHERAMETBTRESF
generally is 2.49% per annum (2014: 2.22% per annum). 249% (ZE—UF : §F2.22%) °
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after

charging/(crediting) the following:

Br %1 B0 R A
NEEZ BB, (BE) HENR,
(5FAN) TAKIAEETER

2015 2014
—F-1% —T-lF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER FET
Cost of inventories sold BEFEKA 45,230 -
Auditors’ remuneration % B4 B BN & 1,000 1,000
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEHH 1,346 1,706
Depreciation* Jre- 20,770 207
Operating lease rentals in respect Bt RIEF 2
of land and buildings wEHE 953 533
Staff costs including directors’ BEIRKN(BREESHH) :
emoluments:
Salaries, wages, allowances and HFe IE 2R
benefits in kind EWH &= 9,501 10,108
Retirement benefits scheme RREFFTEIH R
contributions 31 52
Staff costs B IR 9,532 10,160

* HK$264,000 (2014: HK$207,000) are included in
administrative expenses and HK$20,606,000 (2014: HK$ nil)

are included in cost of sales.
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FIBHMEX
2015 2014
—E-HEF —E-MOF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Current tax - overseas B HA B 18 — /8 Sb - -
Provision for the year REZ R 236 -
Income tax expense Fris®if X 236 -
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made in the BARAEERAFETEERBRFR (=
financial statements as the Group had no assessable profit T—F &) R ERAERERTIES
for the year (2014: Nil). ERISTRAE -
Overseas taxation represents tax charges on the estimated EINRIBRE SR BN (BIEFE) & 2 MY
assessable profits of subsidiaries operating overseas BRARMEE Z M ERBEF 2 HIEX
including the PRC, calculated at rates applicable in the B WIEFRNERRBEBREER 2 E
respective jurisdictions for the year. FE -
REESEZERERAT
99 HE-T-EE=ACT-HLAESEH
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Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2015

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 9. FIEHEX (&)
The reconciliation between the income tax expense and s B @AM KT E 2 g5t ia Fl
accounting profit/(loss) at applicable tax rates: S(EBR)MEZHERNT
2015 2014
—E-HF —ZE-MF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Profit before tax B 350 A& A 24,673 (41,079)
Tax at the applicable tax rate in EEBSHBMEFTE ZHIE
Hong Kong 4,071 (6,778)
Tax effect of non-deductible AR 2 R &
expenses 180 1,042
Effect of different tax rates of HEMAERREEER 2
subsidiaries operating in MEBRAR TRME &
other jurisdictions 3,063 (2,578)
Tax effect of tax losses not RIERIBEIE 2
recognised Ui x 1,915 8,314
Tax losses utilised EERARIEEIE (8,993) -
Income tax expense Fris®if X 236 -
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE 10.EEFM R ERBRaHES
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
(a) Directors (@ E=E

ARBEFZHMABLT

Details of the remuneration of directors of the Company

are as follows:

Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits scheme
Fees in kind  contributions Total
e EZMR BREA
we EMAz= EHEIf R =
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT FAT
For the year ended BE-Z-NE=A
31 March 2014 =t+t—-HLFE
Executive directors: BITES:
Lee Shing (i) 355() - 960 4 964
Kwok Tai Pan (ii) 2B AR E (i) - 960 4 964
- 1,920 8 1,928
Independent non- BAFHTES:
executive directors:
Orr Joseph Wai Shing (i) 17/ {& & (iii) 163 - - 163
Jiao Zhi (iv) EE(iv) 65 - - 65
Cheung Wai Bun, SREMW - X FH L)
Charles J.P. (v) 1,483 - - 1,483
1,711 - - 1,711
1,711 1,920 8 3,639
REESEZERERAT
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE

HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continuead)

(a) Directors (Continued)

10.EE55F MR T EESHES

(%)
(a) EE(#)

Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
Fe 2AR RKER
ik BYRE B LEEA Bt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT THT FET FET
For the year ended BHE-_ZE-1f=H
31 March 2015 =t—-HLEE
Executive directors: BiTES:
Lee Shing (i) () - 960 - 960
Kwok Tai Pan (ii) 2B KA (i) - 960 - 960
- 1,920 - 1,920
Independent non- BYFHTES:
executive directors:
Orr Joseph Wai Shing (iii) 1 {2 & (iii) 163 - - 163
Jiao Zhi (iv) £ (v) 65 - - 65
Cheung Wai Bun, REBW L FHL V)
Charles J.P. (v) 1,483 - - 1,483
1,711 - - 1,711
1,711 1,920 - 3,631

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2015
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)
(a) Directors (Continued)
Notes for the year ended 31 March, 2015 and 2014:

(ii

(ii)

(iv)

Mr. Lee Shing was appointed as executive director on 17
July 2009.

Ms. Kwok Tai Pan was appointed as executive director

on 17 July 2009.

Mr. Orr Joseph Wai Shing was appointed as independent
non-executive director on 22 December 2008. Ms. Kwok
Tai Pan was appointed as executive director on 17 July
2009.

Mr. Jiao Zhi was appointed as independent non-

executive director on 31 December 2008.

Dr. Cheung Wai Bun, Charles J.P. was appointed as

independent non-executive director on 17 July 2009.
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10.E55F MR T EESHES
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B2 —F—haFR-_F—F=H=+—
i FEHT -

(i)

(i)

(iv)
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE 10.ESFMR LTRSS HES

HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continuead) (%)
(b) Five highest paid employees b) EEEEFHES
The five highest paid individuals for the year included RAFE AEZaT ATEENS
four (2014: four) directors whose remuneration are (ZEMUF - NB)EF BEZH
included above. The emolument of the remaining one MEegnh b -EHn—%(ZF—H0
(2014: one) individual is as follows: F:—R)ATZHESWT
2015 2014
—Z-8fF —ET-mF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FHET
Salaries, allowances and e RMREMNE
benefits in kind 720 720
Retirement benefits scheme RKBH TSR
contributions 4 4
724 724
The number of the non-director highest paid individuals MENF TIEHE FESHSHA
whose emoluments fell within the following band is as TZ ABWT
follows:
2015 2014
—®-HF —T-mEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FHET
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 21,000,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001t &
1,500,000/% 7T = -
During the year, no remunerations were paid by REBRFALESZFBE FESEK
the Group to the directors or the five highest paid hEmEEFAT EAMBAREEN
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining MRINE AR E b 2 2ZE) Sk E ABER
the Group or as compensation for loss of office. No E-ARRREERFANERELR
directors of the Company waived or agreed to waive EREEABMS -

any remunerations during the year.
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11. DIVIDEND 11. R E
No dividend has been paid or proposed by the Company for HE_ZT—AFE_FT—HNF=H="1—
the years ended 31 March 2015 and 2014. BIEFE ANA eI 8RR RS -
12. EARNINGS PER SHARE 12.BRAF
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share RAaE=REARGEREAREER
attributable to the equity holders of the Company is based FIDEATER BEEANE:

on the following:

Basic HAR
2015 2014
i —ET—NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Profit/(loss) attributable to the equity ANA Al EZR B AFE(L
holders of the Company wmH L (EE) 14,384 (32,688)
Weighted average number of EBITEER 2 INETIH
ordinary shares in issue 13,448,488,271 13,448,488,271
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) SRxEARZEF] (B1l) 0.11 (0.24)
105 - | AEESERERAR
BE-Z-HF=A=1t—RILEEZFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
OB FS IR = BU5E

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 12.8REBA (#)

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to
assume exercise/conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares. The Company has 1 categories of dilutive potential

ordinary shares: share options (Note 25).

For the share options, a calculation is done to determine
the number of shares that could have been acquired at
fair value (determined as the average market price of the
Company’s shares during the year) based on the monetary
value of the subscription rights attached to the outstanding
share options. The number of shares calculated above
is compared with the number of shares that would have
been issued assuming the exercise of the share options.
Hence, the share options have a dilutive effect only when
the average market price of ordinary shares during the year

exceeds the exercise price of the share options.

The computation of diluted earnings per share for the
year ended 31 March 2015 and 2014 did not assume the
exercise of the Company’s outstanding share options since
the Company’s shares were suspended in listing and there is

no market price for the shares.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

31 March 2015

=
wi O

13. % HERRKRE

—E-HF=A=+-H

B ¥5 ¥R 2R By 5%

Furniture,
fixtures
Mine  Plantand  andoffice  Leasehold Motor Construction
properties  machinery  equipment improvement vehicles  Sub-Total in progress Total
BER BA-£ER
BENE BE BROERE HENERS "E M REIR fay
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FEL TAT FEL FEL TAL FEL FEL
Cost or valuation RAREE
At 1 April 2013 RZE-=%MA-H 574,019 10,587 161 - 1,124 585,891 1,835 587,726
Additions RE 40,300 1,611 - - - 41,911 562 42,473
Disposals e - - - - - - (2,396) (2,396)
Disposals of subsidiary ~ HEF B A - - - - - - -
Currency realignment ELRE (665) (19) (1) - (1) (680) ) (681)
At 31 March 2014 RZE-MEZA=1-H 613,654 12,185 160 - 1,123 627,122 - 627,122
Additions NE 41,193 829 - - 474 42,496 - 42,496
Disposals e (1,767) - - - - (1,767) - (1,767)
Disposals of subsidiary ~ HEM B - - - - - - - -
Currency realignment BN A% 178 4 - - - 182 - 182
At 31 March 2015 R-E-EF=f=+-H 653,258 13,018 160 - 1,597 668,033 - 668,033
Accumulated depreciation 2378
At 1 April 2013 R-ZE-—=fMA—H 107,091 8,167 112 - 516 115,886 - 115,886
Charge for the year REEZH 19,542 426 17 - 82 20,067 - 20,067
Elimination on disposal £ R ¥ 8 - - - - - - -
Disposals of subsidiary ~ HEF B A - - - - - - -
Currency realignment ELRE (131) ) - - (1) (141) - (141)
At 31 March 2014 RZE-WE=ZA=+—A 126,502 8,584 129 - 597 135,812 - 135,812
Charge for the year AEETH 20,095 550 9 - 116 20,770 - 20,770
Elimination on disposal &8 ¥ 8 - - - - - - -
Currency realignment BEH A% 38 2 - - - 40 - 40
At 31 March 2015 R-E-5f=B=1-H 146,635 9,136 138 - 713 156,622 - 156,622
Carrying amount; REE:
At 31 March 2015 RZB-EF=A=1-H 506,623 3,882 22 - 884 511,411 - 511,411
At 31 March 2014 R-E-WE=ZA=+—-A 487,152 3,601 31 - 526 491,310 - 491,310
107 | REESEBRARAT
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14.INTANGIBLE ASSETS

14. B EE

Mining rights
PR 5 #E
HK$’000
FHET
Cost R AR

At 31 March 2013 RZE—=F=H=+—H 54,112
Addition NE 10,495
Revaluation R -
Exchange realignment b 5 AR (66)
At 31 March 2014 R-ZEB-NFE=A=1+—H 64,541
Additions NE -
Impairment during the year FERIE -
Exchange realignment ME W B 18
Reclassification B A -
At 31 March 2015 R-ZEB-HF=A=+-—H 64,559
Accumulated amortisation Rty -
At 31 March 2013 W-ZZE—=F=A=+—H 3,351
Provision during the year FEREE 1,706
Exchange realignment bE 5 R B (4)
At 31 March 2014 R-ZE—MF=A=+—~H 5,053
Provision during the year FEREE 1,347
Exchange realignment (ERzIEEE 1
At 31 March 2015 WR_E-RF=A=+—H 6,401

Net book value BRERE
At 31 March 2014 R-ZE—MF=A=+—~H 59,488
At 31 March 2015 R—ZZFE—HF=HAH=+—H 58,158

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2015
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15. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL 15. A ftHESREE

ASSETS

2015 2014

—E-afF —ET-mF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THERT FET

At 1 April RMA—H - _

Additions NE - _

Disposals H & - _

Revaluation ESRES - _

At 31 March R=A=+-—H = -

Available-for-sale financial assets include the following:

AL ESREERRA TSR

2015 2014
—E—HF —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THER FHET

EmEE:

— IR AN 5 — RN

Listed securities:

— Equity securities — Australia

On 29 October 2009, a subsidiary of the Company entered
into a purchase agreement whereby the subsidiary agreed
to purchase 260,000,000 rights at the consideration
of approximately HK$4.62 million. The transaction was
completed on the same day and the subsidiary had

exercised the rights in full.

The rights involve 260,000,000 unit of rights for subscription
of 260,000,000 new shares in Apex Minerals NL
(“Apex”) (“New Apex Shares”) at a subscription price of
approximately HK$0.28 per New Apex Share together with
1 free option to subscribe for shares in Apex (“Apex Option
Shares”) at an exercise price of approximately HK$0.42
per Apex Option Share for every 10 New Apex Shares

subscribed in the right issue of Apex.
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R-ZZBEZEAE+A=-+AB KRR ZH
BARI L E G B ZWE AR
A = W B8 260,000,000 A HE - R{ELH A
4,620,000/ 7T c % X SR E— AFEAUA K&
ZMIB AR B EERIT AR -

I8 # % 260,000,000 A] 12 & &
FrApexit fh 2 REEH0.28B LR E
260,000,000 #$TApex Minerals NL
(TApex |) B ([#FApexB& 4 1) (E[F
Apextti% b5 & 7288 1 0R% T Apex & {7 7] & &
BEEADBRENRBITEELHER0.42
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15.
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AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL
ASSETS (continuead)

Apex is a company listed on the Australian Stock Exchange
and engaged in mining and production of gold and

exploration of mineral resources.

Available-for-sale financial assets held by the Group are

denominated on Australian dollars.

In August 2014, Apex was delisted on the Australian Stock
Exchange and management of the Company assessed
the recoverability of the available-for-sale investment and
determined the fair value of the available-for-sale financial

assets which is 1,000 shares of Apex to be zero.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date
is the carrying value of the debt securities classified as

available-for-sale.

15.

AHHEESHEE &)

ApexB—HKNBIMNEF R F P LT EF
RNEERSARBEERBREK 2 Q
E—JO

AEEFAZAHEESREENRITI
B

—HENR - Apex RN EH X 5
PR RARBERED A HEE
W&z A IE&?‘E»‘E—H#(Hj’i ﬂé?

(=

RS BHEERAEERRSDES
f

R EZBEBES ZREE-

El

16. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 16. [ff B 2 7] # &=
Company AT
2015 2014
—E-HF —
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FERT FHET
Unlisted shares, at cost FELTAR G - IR ANE - -
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFE UL B B A B R IE 312,231 315,917
312,231 315,917
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16.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 16. B ARER (&)

Notes: Kiat -
(@) Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: () AARMEBARZFFBOT:
(i)  Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March () R-E—RAF=ZA=+—HAQXFM

BARZEENT:

2015 are follows:

(b)  The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest

Company name

Place and date of
incorporation/
establishment

Issued and fully
paid up capital/

Percentage of equity
interest attributable

registered capital

to the Company

Principal
activities and
place of operations

B3 ayd BRTRBERE/ AR T EML
NRER R R R B H# EMEX REBDL TEXBREELT
Direct% Indirect%
HE% B#E%
SSC Mandarin Mining British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of 100 - Investment holding in
Investment Limited 2 October 2007 US$1 each Hong Kong
NENHEEREERDR EBRIHS 1REBRIFTZ BBk EEBREER
—ZT+F+AZH
T G Mining Asia Limited Hong Kong 2,000,000 ordinary - 100  Investment holding in
9 November 2005 shares of HK$1 each Hong Kong
EEBETMNERAF N 2,000,000 & B18 T 2 EEBREZER

SSC Sino Gold Mining
Investment Company
Limited

XERS (LR)BERE
BEEERAT

Tongguan Taizhou Mining
Company Limited

BRBAMEE
BREMERF

“ZEZRE+-ANA

PRC
5 February 2004

FE
“ETME-RAAA

PRC
29 June 2004

i

Registered and
paid-up capital of
US$7,000,000
7,000,000 sttt & A&
RERBRA

Registered and
paid-up capital
RMB10,000,000

A R #10,000,0007T 3% fff

“EENEXRAZTAR ERRBRER

free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

m

B

TEE

i

Investment holding in
the PRC

EFEREER

Exploration, mining and
mineral processing

Wi SRR T

(o) BRMEBARZFEREERM 258 RERE
. .
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17.INVENTORIES 17. 78
2015 2014
—E—EHF —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Raw material R+ 2,373 -
Finished goods 25K oh 122,745 136,714
125,118 136,714

The carrying amount of inventories that were carried at lower
of cost or net realisable value amounted to approximately
HK$125,118,000(2014: HK$136,714,000).

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included
in ‘cost of sales’ amounted to HK$45,230,000.

The Group’s inventories were pledged as collateral with its
financier according to the terms and conditions as mutually
agreed between the PRC subsidiary — Taizhou Mining and
the financiers. As at 31 March 2015, HK$122,745,000
(HK$136,714,000 for 2014) of the inventories were pledged

and were in the custodian of the financier.
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GFERABEZRX AN ZE FELY
125,118,000 50 ( = & — /g F :
136,714,000/ 7T ) 2 I E ABK -

GFERAERBAILF A [EEK A
45,230,000/ 7T °

RNEB IR M E A 7 — A M R
BAEFTEXZBRAREHEEFEER
ERRERTREA-R_T—RF=A
=+—H" 122,745,000/t ( Z=Z—MOF
/3136,714,0008 7T ) 2 FEEE I B &l
BEARE -
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OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 18. HttEW R EBE R FERIE
PREPAYMENTS
2015 2014
—E-RF —E-mF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FET
Other receivables, deposits and Hin e FIB - e &
prepayments TEATFRIE 67,247 72,738
67,247 72,738
An analysis of other receivables, deposits and prepayments EmpElFHIE - Re RIBAFIEZ 20
are as follows: T:
2015 2014
—E-FHF —E—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Prepayment for the intended ore ERBERBELRRERZ
refinery FEA FA 50,012 45,202
Others Hb 17,235 27,536
67,247 72,738
The fair values of other receivables approximate their HEMElR Bz A FEEEREBERS -
carrying amounts.
CASH AND BANK BALANCES 19. RERIBITHEEH
As at 31 March 2015, approximately HK$285,000 (2014: R-_E—RAF=ZA=+—B KXE£EHY
HK$316,000) of the Group’s cash and bank balances were 285,000/ 7T ( =& —PU4F : 316,000/ 7T )
denominated in Renminbi, a currency which is subject to ZRERBITHEBIUARESNE - AR
exchange control restrictions imposed by the Government of B 7B B BT BT AR AL 2 SN B I AR IR o
the PRC.
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20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

20 ENEZRAREMENKE

2015 2014
e —ZT—NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Trade payables R E SRR 3,177 15,567
Other payables and accruals HipERIBREFTER 102,857 89,926
106,034 105,493
Included in other payables and accruals are HK$34,534,000 EMENREREFEABREESAR
(2014: HK$ 30,904,000) payable to present and former AR AE MBI £ E 5 2 5/1834,534,000/8 7T
directors of the Company. (== — P04 : 30,904,000/& 7T ) °
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis HEREHR ENEHEREAFBA
of trade creditors based on the demand note date, is as EHHEIMERE>TOT
follows:
2015 2014
—E-aF —ZT-mEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
0-30 days 0£30H - -
31-60 days 31260H - -
61-90 days 61290H - -
Over 90 days 90H M k£ 3,177 15,567
3,177 15,567
Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2015 "4
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21. BORROWINGS 21. 8 &
Group
rE
2015 2014
—E-aF —ZT-mE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Bank borrowings RITIEE 9,556 9,678
Short-term loans REE X 19,582 14,715
Long-term loans RHER 486,200 514,309
515,338 538,702
The Group’s interest-bearing loans REEBEED
were repayable as follows: AEBERIT
Amount due within one year MARBEBEET
included in current liabilities = fﬁﬁqiuﬁﬁ:zmA 29,138 24,393
Amount due after one year R—FEEE 2R 486,200 514,309

The bank borrowings bear interest at prevailing rates and
secured by the mining right owned by the Group and the
interest rate is 7.49% (2014: 7.49%).

The short-term loan is unsecured and the interest rate is 5%
(2014: 5%) per annum.

The long term loan is secured by the inventory of the
Group’s operating subsidiary Taizhou Mining and the interest
rate is nil to 6% (2014: nil to 6%).

The above borrowings are carried at amortised cost

and the carrying amounts of interest-bearing borrowings

approximate to their fair value.

15

RITEERBITNEG S WAKREE#E
B2 RBEEERE FIEXAB7.49% (=ZF
— P04 :7.49% ) °

HHERAEER FHXAER (ZZ
—F:5%) °

EHEFRUAEBELEH B A A K ME
¥EZGFEERE - AENTEE6% (ZF
—FETE6%)
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22.

BONDS

On 30 April 2008, the Company issued convertible bonds
with an aggregate principal amount of HK$806,400,000
(the “Convertible Bonds”) with maturity date of 30 April
2013 for partial settlement of the consideration for the
acquisition of SSC Mandarin Mining Investment Limited and
its subsidiaries. The Convertible Bonds were convertible into
new shares of the Company up to the close of business on
the day falling 14 days prior to the aforesaid maturity date.
The Convertible Bonds bear no interest for the period from
the issue date of the Convertible Bonds to the date falling
two years from the issue date of the Convertible Bonds.
Thereafter, the Convertible Bonds carry interest at a rate of
4% per annum, payable in arrears quarterly on 31 March, 30

June, 30 September and 31 December in each year.

The Convertible Bonds contain two components, viz. liability
and equity components. On the issue of the Convertible
Bonds, the fair value of the liability component was
determined using the method of discounted cash flow. The
residual amount, representing the equity component, is
included in shareholders’ equity. The liability component is
subsequently carried at amortised cost until extinguished
on conversion or redemption. If the Convertible Bonds are
converted, the carrying amounts of the equity and liability
components are transferred to share capital and share

premium as consideration for the shares issued.
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22. BONDS (continuea) 22. 8% (&)

The convertible bond recognised in the balance sheet is REEBERTPHIAZABRESFTEN

calculated as follows: ™~
2015 2014
—E-IF —T-mF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THER FHET
Liability component at 1 April ROA—BZz A& 18,145 17,541
Interest expense and amortisation  F.8 3% H K # 44 508 604
Conversion of bonds BEHER - -
Interest paid BAF B - -
Liability component at 31 March RZ=ZB=+—HBZ&&%H 5 18,653 18,145

The fair value of the liability component of the convertible RZE—RAF=-HA=T—HUBRRESHE
bond at 31 March 2015 approximates to their book value. B AFELAEERETMEMESE -ARA
As the Convertible Bonds were matured on 30 April 2013 BEEFR _F-—=FHA=THIHR
and its conversion period expired, the Convertible Bonds H s A ﬁ AMBRESFZEREKREX
became bonds payable on demand. As at 31 March BE-RE—RAF=-A=+—80 EHz
2015, the outstanding principal amount of the bonds was REEBELRS E75'515 666,560/8 T ZBIR B
HK$15,666,560, which was repayable on demand. KEE -
23. PROMISSORY NOTES 23. &N EE
The Group and the Company TEBRAQT
The movements in the promissory notes of the Company for HE_ZT—AFR-_ZT—WF=A=+—
the years ended 31 March 2015 and 2014 are as follows: AIEFEARNREALERZE8 0T
2015 2014
—E2-1F —E-mF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Promissory note R IE 12,500 12,500
As at 31 March 2015 and 2014, the promissory note was RZE—RAFER_FTE—NF=ZA=+—
not yet repaid. B E&EEERENREER-
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24. SHARE CAPITAL 24, | A&
2015 2014
—E-E —T-|mE
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
A8 E x| B8 E &%
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FEL
Authorised: EE
At 1 April and 31 March RUA—HK=B=+—H8 30,000,000,000 120,000 30,000,000,000 120,000
At 31 March W=F=+—H 30,000,000,000 120,000 30,000,000,000 120,000
Issued and fully paid: BEIRAR:
At 1 April, beginning of period R A—B (H#]) &
and 31 March, end of period RZA=+—H(HX) 13,448,488,271 53,794 13,448,488,271 53,794
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25. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(i)

Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees
to join the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”), a defined contribution scheme
managed by an independent trustee. Under the
MPF Scheme, each of the Group and its Hong Kong
employees makes monthly contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance. Both the Group’s
and the employees’ contributions are subject to a cap
of HK$1,500 per month and thereafter contributions
are voluntary. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently-
administered fund. The Group’s contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF

Scheme.

Pursuant to the regulations in the PRC, the employees
in the PRC are required to join the pension fund (&
Z{RBE S ) which is a defined contribution scheme
operated by the local government for the benefit of
retired employees. The Group is required to make
monthly contributions to the scheme at a specified rate
of the employee payroll to fund the retirement benefits

of the employees.
Save as disclosed above, the Group has no other

obligations to make payments in respect of retirement

benefits of the employees.
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25. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

(ii) Share option scheme

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2015

At an extraordinary general meeting of the shareholders
of the Company held on 4 March 2009, the original
share option scheme (the “Original Share Option
Scheme”) was terminated and a new share option
scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) was
adopted. The New Share Option Scheme shall remain
in force for a period of ten years commencing on that
date, subject to early termination by the Company in

general meeting.

To enable the Company to motivate more persons to
make contribution to the Group and recruit additional
talents to serve the Group in attaining the long term
objectives of the Company, the New Share Option
Scheme has been adopted with a broader categories
of eligible participants, including full time and part
time employee, consultant, adviser, agent, contractor,
customer, supplier and shareholder of the Group (the
“Participants”). Under the terms of the New Share
Option Scheme, the directors of the Company may
determine the grant of any options to the Participants
to subscribe for ordinary shares in the capital of the

Company.
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25. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

(ii) Share option scheme (Continued)

The overall limit on the number of shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
and yet to be exercised under the New Share Option
Scheme and other share option schemes must not,
in aggregate, exceed 30% of shares of the Company
in issue from time to time. The total number of shares
issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted under the New Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company, including both exercised and outstanding
options, to each Participant in any twelve month period
must not exceed 1% of the then total issued share
capital of the Company (the “Individual Limit”). Any
further grant of options in excess of the Individual Limit
must be subject to shareholders’ approval in general
meeting of the Company with such Participant and
his associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
abstaining from voting.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the New Share Option Scheme at any time
from the date of grant of the option to the date of
expiry of the option as determined and notified by the
directors of the Company to each grantee but may
not be exercised after the expiry of ten years from the
date of grant. The subscription price of the shares in
respect of any particular option granted under the New
Share Option Scheme shall be such price as the board
of directors of the Company, in its absolute discretion,
shall determine and notify the Participant, save that
such price must be at least the higher of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date grant;
(i) the average closing price of the Company’s shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (i) the nominal value of the

Company’s shares.
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25. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

(ii) Share option scheme (Continued)

25. EER/A (&)
(i) WBRESE(EZ)

There was no grant of share options for the year ended
31 March 2015 (2014: HKS$NIl).

As at 31 March 2015, the number of shares in respect
of which options had been granted and remained
outstanding under the New Share Option Scheme was
206,300,000 (2014: 206,300,000), representing 1.84%
(2014: 1.84%) of the total number of shares of the

Company in issue at that date.

26. RESERVES
(a) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in

equity on page 51 and 52.
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26. RESERVES (continued) 26. f#fE (&)
(b) Company (b) A&AQFE
Equity Retained
component  Share Option profits/
Share of convertible Scheme (Accumulated
premium bonds Reserve losses) Total
TgRES BRE REEN/
R EE Ea¥o sERE  (RIHER) CE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TR TR TET TET TR
As at 1 April 2013 RZE-Z=FMA—A 1,690,766 5,036 26,703 (1,509,086) 213,419
Conversion of shares BHRH - - - - -
Share application RS - -
Loss for the year REEER - - - (8,267) (8,267)
Change of convertiole AT &5 &
bonds to bonds RERNES
payables - - - - -
At 31 March 2014 and  RZZT—E=A
1 April 2014 =t+—-Ak
—T-MEMA-A 1,690,766 5,036 26,703 (1,617,353) 205,152
Conversion of shares gkt - - - - -
Share application R R - - - - -
Net loss for the year AEEBRFE - - - (8,758) (8,758)
At 31 March 2015 R-Z-1F
=A=+—-H 1,690,766 5,036 26,703 (1,526,111) 196,394

123 ~ ey



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fm © B 75 ¥ R BU 5F

26. RESERVES (continued)
(b) Company (Continued)
Under section 34 of the Companies Law (Revised) of
the Cayman Islands, the share premium is available for
distribution to shareholders subject to the provisions
of the articles of association of the Company and no
distribution may be paid to shareholders out of the
share premium unless, immediately following the date
on which distribution or dividend is proposed to be
paid, the Company shall be able to pay its debts as

they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

27. COMMITMENTS

(@) Capital commitments

26. % &)
(b) &ATF (&)

REFESEBHERADE (KEFT)E34
fF ERAEARRARABERZMAN 2R
ET BaEER 2K FRE: MAR
AIEREREERE D IKSORERE 2 H
HIREE M A B X B BT 2 B
BT 73 AT LAFI A A A i 1B 1) A SR 4
H K o

27. &I

(@) BEXEE
Group
AEM
2015 2014
—2-HF —T-mEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET

Contracted, but not provided for & &MBRBEHEAEZETE

Construction in progress
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27. COMMITMENTS (continuea)
(b) Operating lease commitments
The Group leases certain of its land and buildings under
operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties
are negotiated for terms ranging between one to three

years with fixed monthly rentals.

Future minimum lease payments of the Group under

non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

27.
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AIE (#)

(b) HEHERIE

AEERBEEHERHEARALET
THEEF -DEAENHALER
BHF—E=F HWHEBEEAME-

AEERTAIBHEAERE T2 RK

REHESRANAT

Group

AEE
2015 2014
—E-HF —E-mEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT TETT

Within one year —FA
In the second to fifth year, FE_FZERF
inclusive (BiEEREMT)

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s major financial assets and liabilities include
bank balances and cash, convertible bonds, promissory
notes, interest bearing borrowings, trade and other
receivables, trade and other payables as well as long term
loans. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in the respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate

measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(@) Foreign exchange risk

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2015

The Group’s monetary assets and transactions are
principally denominated in HK$, Renminbi (“RMB”).
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities. The
Group adopted a conservative treasury policy with most
of the bank deposits being kept in HK$ or RMB, or in
the local currencies of the operating subsidiaries to

minimise exposure to foreign exchange risk.

The Group has certain investments and operations
in the PRC, whose net assets are exposed to foreign
currency translation risk. Currency exposure arising
from the net assets of the Group’s operations in the
PRC is managed primarily through operating liabilities
denominated in RMB.

To date, the Group has not entered into any hedging
transactions in an effort to reduce the Group’s foreign
currency exchange risks. However, the management
continues to monitor the foreign exchange exposure
regularly and will consider hedging significant foreign

currency exposure should the need arise.

A reasonably possible change of 5% in exchange rates
between RMB and HK$ respectively, with all other
variables held constant, would not have material impact

on the Group’s profit and equity for the year.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises
primarily from its borrowings and bank deposits.
Borrowings and bank deposits at variable rates expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings at
fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate

risk.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate
hedging policy. The management monitor the Group’s
exposure on ongoing basis and will consider hedging

interest rate risk should the need arise.

At 31 March 2015, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points (2014: 100 basis
points) in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, would increase/decrease the Group’s profit
before tax and accumulated losses by approximately
HK$2,330,000 (2014: HK$2,175,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred
at the reporting date and had been applied to the
Group’s exposure to interest rate risk for financial
instruments in existence at that date. A 100 basis
points (2014: 100 basis points) increase or decrease
in interest rates represents management’s assessment
of a reasonably possible change in interest rates. The

analysis is performed on the same basis for 2014.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

()

(d)

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2015

Commodity price risk

The Group’s exposure to commodity price risk relates
principally to the market price fluctuations in gold and
other by-product commodities, which can affect the

Group’s results of operations.

The Group has not used any commodity derivative
contracts to hedge its exposure to commodity price
risk. The Group manages its exposure through constant
monitoring and will consider hedging significant

commodity price exposure should the need arise.

Credit risk

The extent of the Group’s credit exposure is
represented by the aggregate balance of cash in
bank, trade and other receivables and deposits.
Cash transactions are limited to high-credit- quality

institutions.

In respect of trade and other receivables, credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring
credit over a certain amount. These receivables are due
within 0-60 days from the date of billing. Debtors with
balances that are more than 6 months are requested
to settle all outstanding balances before any further
credit is granted. Normally, the Group does not obtain

collateral from customers.

At the reporting date, the Group did not have any
concentration of credit risk as no trade and other
receivables were due from the Group’s largest

customer and the five largest customers respectively.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade and
other receivables and pepayments are set out in note
18.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 28. I EMRER (&)

(e) Liquidity risk (e) E£FRERR
For the management of the Group’s liquidity risk, the ARERXAEECESRBRAR K&
Group monitors and maintains a sufficient level of cash EERRERTEKTIZRERRS
and cash equivalents to finance the Group’s operations LEEH UBNAEE ZEBKRE
and mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash flows. RRERERERD 2 HE-BIEE
Management reviews and monitors the Group’s working FHRARERAEE B EEST
capital requirements regularly. e
The following table sets out the remaining contractual TRAJAEBFETESR B ERR
maturities of the Group’s non-derivative financial HEREZHBELER - DHREEH
liabilities at the reporting date, which are based on AR BRERE (BIERBAHFE
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest s (NEEBAE ) BBWE B @
payments computed using contractual rates or, if ZHMERFEZFEFKIE) - ARAIEEE
floating, based on the prevailing rates at the reporting KAEENR 2 &EF BEFE
date) and the earliest date the Group can be required to
pay:
2015 2014
Z%-1f —E-mE
Total Total
contractual Within one contractual
Carrying  undiscounted year or on Carrying  undiscounted  Within one year
amount cash flow demand  After one year amount cashflow  orondemand  After one year
AHRNE —ERg 2HRTR —ER3

RAOE REREAE BEX BB-F BEE RERELE EEX HE-F
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$000
TiEn Tén TR Tén TERL TEL TERL TEn

Trade and other payable EREAEAR

HbENER 84,811 84,811 84,811 - 84,270 84,270 84,270 -
Interest-bearing borrowings 58 EE 29,138 29,138 29,138 - 24,393 24,393 24,393 -
Promissory notes S 12,500 12,500 12,500 - 12,500 12,500 12,500 -
Bonds E% 18,653 18,653 18,653 - 18,145 18,145 18,145 -
Long-term loans REER - - - 486,200 - - - 514,309

145,102 145,102 145,102 486,200 139,308 139,308 139,308 514,309
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(f)

(9)

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2015

Capital risk management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital
management is to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value. To maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the payment of dividends, issue new shares, sell assets

as well as issue new debts or redeem existing debts.

The Group manages its capital structure and make
adjustments to it, in light of cost and risk associated

with the capital and changes in economic conditions.

Fair value estimation

The Group’s financial assets include cash and cash
equivalents, bank deposits, trade and other receivables,
and other investment. Financial liabilities include trade
and other payables, interest bearing borrowings,
amounts due to former directors, long-term loans as

well as promissory notes and convertible bonds.

All other significant financial assets and liabilities are
carried at amounts not materially different from their
respective fair values in the consolidated statement
of financial position due to the nature or short-term

maturity of these instruments.
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Besides the directors listed in the note - director’s

remuneration, the Group also identifies below related

parties:

Name

Ma Qianzhou

Zhao Yuebing
Dragon Hill

Relationship

General manager of Taizhou Mining
Director of Taizhou Mining
85% owned by Lee Shing

Development Limited

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the financial

statements, the following transactions were carried out with

related parties:

(@) Key management compensation

Key management includes directors (executive and

non-executive), members of the Executive Committee.

The compensation paid or payable to key management

2. BEALEXRE

BREFEHMMEMIZESI AKRETR
Rl T 51 R E AL

B

BN
K
RILERBERAA

B&

AR BERE
ANBEEES
8o%MERMFHAER

BAMBRREMIEDAWEEIN KE
BEEBEBATETATIRS:

(@ FEEBEASHS
TEERABRERTESTRIFNT
B WITEESXE - HESRBKH
ENSENEIEEEAB 2B ST

for employee services is shown below: m
2015 2014
—E—AF —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Salaries and other short-term FehEMEEES R

employee benefits 6,627 6,879
Termination benefits i HE 43 ) = -
Post-employment benefits RRAE A = -
Other long-term benefits Hib RHEF = 12
Total 1@ Et 6,627 6,891
131 - | AEESERARAD
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 2. EALTRS (#)
(Continued)
(b) Loans from related parties (b) BEALTER
2015 2014
—E-iF —E—mE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
At 1 April RUA—AH 111,321 103,789
Currency realignment ME 5, 8 & 28 (108)
Loans borrowed during year FAEBAER 5,942 4,790
Loan repaid BEEX (2,810) (1,686)
Interest accrued FE T & 4,632 4,536
Interest paid 2EAAE - -
At 31 March R=A=+—H 119,113 111,321
The above loans are from Ms. Zhao Yuebing and PR EFR BNk R EILEE
Dragon Hill Development Limited. The accrued interest BRAG EMNE SRR E A FE
of Dragon Hill development Limited has been included RIEEFARLERBERARIFEST
in trade and other payables. M2 o
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(b) Loans from related parties (Continued)

The loans from related parties have the following terms

and conditions:

2. BEALRF (&)

(b) BEALTER(#F)
AL EREGRR  RFT

Amount of loan EXEE At beginning
Name of key management IFEETEAE At end of year of year Interest rate
FR £ A=
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET THET
2015 —E—hF
Zhao Yuebing RV 103,599 101,266 6%
Dragon Hill Development ‘RILERER QA
Limited 15,514 10,055 5%
2014 —T—-mEF
Zhao Yuebing =K 101,266 96,567 6%
Dragon Hill Development BILBERFRAF
Limited 10,055 7,222 5%
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30. MATERIAL LITIGATION

30.

As at the date of issuance of this report, the Group has

the following material outstanding litigations, of which

case FSD84/2016 indicates the existence of a material

uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group

and its ability to continue as a going concern, the validity of

which depends on the results of the Group’s future funding

plan and debt settlement should the Group be able to

continue as a going concern. Any possible restructuring plan

may change the classification, valuation and disclosures of

items in the consolidated financial statements.

B KR
RAREFZEBE ~AEEE THEEAT
EERFR B ZFFSD84/2016F 7~

FEEATHERR HAGHAKER
HIFBEERNERERER  HEERK
HURNASEBEARKBEFEINEBEEZ
BRMAREEHEBERFELEEER
2) AHIEEEHEM ST EENERE
MHHmEARBEENNR. HERKE-

Date Court Case No. ~ Plaintiff Defendant Nature of Claim Status
BE ELS L RiA e ZEHE &
9 March 2011 HCA397/2011 Charm Master Enterprises  The Company ~ The plaintiff claimed the The Company received letters from J. Thomson Asset
Limited repayment of promissory Investment Limited and its legal adviser dated 27
notes D & E of an aggregated ~ September 2011 and 30 November 2015 requesting
amount of HK$12,500,000. repayment of the Promissory Notes as beneficial owner,

(the “Promissory Notes’)

Subsequent to the filing of an amended statement of claim
by the plaintiff on 17 October 2011 and the Company's
filing of an amended defence on 20 October 2011, the
plaintiff did not proceed further with the court action.

“F--F HCA397/2011  Charm Master Enterprises 72 &) RFABREEELER A& EJ. Thomson Asset Investment Limited J &% 2 B8
=ZANA Limited 125000008 THALRED  (FAEEEEA)NGIREA-E——FAAZTLAR
RE([RRZE]) - ZE-RET-A-THMER ERERALZE-
REFAEZS——E+ATLAR H%;I EEARE
AAEZE-—FTA-THRZ
TRRNE-F R
20 June 2014 HCA1137/2014  Lee Wing Leung The Company The plaintiff claimed repayment  Both parties agreed to have settlement.
of HK$4,545,729.50
“Z-|E HCA1137/2014  FXR YN RFEABLER kg
~AZtH 4,545,729 50 T
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30. MATERIAL LITIGATION (continuea) 30. E KEFFR (#)
Date Court Case No.  Plaintiff Defendant Nature of Claim Status
R ELE L Rk A #e ZEHE HE
21 June 2016 FSD84/2016 Mr. Lau Kin The Company Winding Up Petition The Company has been served with a winding-up petition
(claim for HK$19 million) to the Grand Court of the Gayman Islands (the “Cayman

Court’) against the Company (the “Winding-up Petition’).
The petitioning debt stated in the Winding-up Petition

is an alleged sum due to the petitioner by the Company
of HK§19,494,230.43, comprising HK$16,882,000.00
principal and interest of HK$2,612,230.43 as of 3 May
2016. The petitioner seeks an order for the appointment of
joint official liquidators o the Company.

“EF FSD84/2016 g NG BREE AREME-hRREHENER ([REER]) 4507
AR-tT-A (%[E19,000,000% ) RIUCEEZE([RBEE)) BEEEMUZHER

BBRARAERZHEA19494 2004357 AHEAEE
16,882,000.00E L REZ -5 ERA=ZBILZHIE
2612230438 ERANERESZEARN A Z £

EEEA
15 March 2017~ HCCW 17 Mr. Lee Shing Grand TG Gold  The plaintiff claimed the The plaintiff alleged that the Company is indebted to him in
repayment of that. the sum of HK$18,223,125.50 comprising () a purported

loan of HK$6,925,000.00 assigned by a former director
of the Company to the plaintiff on 12 April 2010; (i) a
loan purportedly provided by the plaintiff plus interest
caloulated up to 30 August 2016 of HK$7,019,020.50
in aggregate; and (i director's emoluments and
reimbursements of HK$4,279,105.00 in aggregate.

“E-tE HOoW 17 FanE rEES RARREBHCOMTRAR RFARR RRER[E18,003,125 5087 BF()—4E
ZATEA g NARTESN - S-SEMA+-BREFA RS B

BE6,925000008 T (i)FFARRERE 2 EFERE
ECE-NE\BZHHZEAHEAR7,019,02050%
T RGIESME REMA £4,279,105.008 T

31. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 1. #HLEM B ®RRK

The financial statements were approved by the board of AU BHRERERZ_ZE—EF_A+~BE
directors and authorised for issue on 16 February 2017. EEgMEREBRERE-
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Five-Year Financial Summary

DS E
For the year ended 31 March
BEZ=A=1+-HLEE
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
—E——F —ET-=f —E—=F —E-pmE —E-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL FET SRV FHT TET
RESULTS £
Revenue Y& - - - - 105,820
(Loss)/profit before tax BREA (B8) &5F (1,486,819 (64,494) (89,534) (41,079) 24,673
Income tax expenses FIBREY 18,926 - - - (236)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(B8B) / &7 (1,467,887) (64,494) (89,534) (41,079) 24,437
Attributable to: AT & F e
Equity holders of the Company AAAERFBA (1,469,476) (54,970) (75,689) (32,688) 14,384
Non-controlling interests iR 1,589 (9,524) (13,845) (8,391) 10,053
(1,467,887) (64,494) (89,534) (41,079) 24,437
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
At 31 March
R=A=t+-H
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
—E——F —T-=F —E-=F —E-mF —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THEL THET AT AL FEL
Total assets BEE 455,490 538,182 681,256 761,899 763,538
Total liabilities BaE (221,877) (356,037) (560,479) (682,411) (659,530)
Total equity B 233,613 182,145 120,777 79,488 104,008
Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
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